

Walden University ScholarWorks

Walden Dissertations and Doctoral Studies

Walden Dissertations and Doctoral Studies Collection

2019

# Relationship Between Post-resuscitation Debriefings and Perceptions of Teamwork in Emergency Department Nurses

Kerri Lyman Walden University

Follow this and additional works at: https://scholarworks.waldenu.edu/dissertations

Part of the Nursing Commons

This Dissertation is brought to you for free and open access by the Walden Dissertations and Doctoral Studies Collection at ScholarWorks. It has been accepted for inclusion in Walden Dissertations and Doctoral Studies by an authorized administrator of ScholarWorks. For more information, please contact ScholarWorks@waldenu.edu.

# Walden University

College of Health Sciences

This is to certify that the doctoral dissertation by

Kerri Lyman

has been found to be complete and satisfactory in all respects, and that any and all revisions required by the review committee have been made.

Review Committee Dr. Kelly Fisher, Committee Chairperson, Nursing Faculty Dr. Susan Fowler, Committee Member, Nursing Faculty Dr. Mary Catherine Garner, University Reviewer, Nursing Faculty

The Office of the Provost

Walden University 2019

Abstract

Relationship Between Post-resuscitation Debriefings and Perceptions of Teamwork in

Emergency Department Nurses

by

Kerri Lyman

MA, Walden University, 2011

BS, Wagner College, 2005

Dissertation Submitted in Partial Fulfillment

of the Requirements for the Degree of

Doctor of Philosophy

Nursing

Walden University

November 2019

Abstract

Emergency department nurses are faced with traumatic patient events while functioning as members of multidisciplinary teams. Critical incident debriefing has been shown to benefit health care professionals and patient clinical outcomes. The purpose of this quantitative correlational study was to examine the relationship between the use of formal post resuscitation debriefings and perceptions of teamwork in emergency department nurses. The study also addressed the type and timing of debriefing to determine whether these factors impacted perceptions of teamwork. The nurse as wounded healer theory served as the theoretical framework. Data from the Nursing Teamwork Survey were collected from 68 emergency department nurses from across the United States. Data were analyzed using a statistical correlation coefficient. Results showed that when debriefings were done more frequently, were conducted using a formal debriefing method, and were held immediately after a situation, there was a positive correlation with higher levels of trust, team orientation, backup, shared mental model, and leadership. Findings may be used to increase utilization of debriefings and improve perceptions of teamwork among emergency department nurses, which may improve patient outcomes.

Relationship Between Post-resuscitation Debriefings and Perceptions of Teamwork in

Emergency Department Nurses

by

Kerri Lyman

MA, Walden University, 2011

BS, Wagner College, 2005

Dissertation Submitted in Partial Fulfillment

of the Requirements for the Degree of

Doctor of Philosophy

Nursing

Walden University

November 2019

## Dedication

Without hesitation, this dissertation is dedicated to my three boys: my husband, Vinny, and our two boys, Tyler and Zack. Their unwavering support and love was the drive that kept me going.

Vin, you have been my rock throughout this entire process. You have encouraged me and kept the boys occupied and quiet so I could write countless times. You have saved me multiple times from complete meltdowns and directed me in the right path. You have been my computer guru this entire time as I had given up on several occasions. I would never have been able to do this without your support and computer expertise. I love you and despite what you say, you WILL refer to me as Doctor.

Ty and Zack, thanks for giving me the perfect balance of allowing me to have schoolwork time, with pulling me away to play Uno or have a catch. My love for you both goes beyond anything that can be measured. I hope in the future you understand all those hours I spent on schoolwork was to show you both how hard work and dedication pays off. You both can achieve anything you dream of.

## Acknowledgments

First and foremost, I must thank my committee members, Dr. Kelly Fisher and Dr. Susan Fowler, for their always quick responses, for never leaving a question unanswered, and for helping move this project along.

An immense acknowledgment to my RWJ pediatric ER team, who inspired this study. My amazing colleagues were open-minded to practice changes, listened to my lectures, and let me drone on about this topic. Each and every one of them amazes me every day with their compassion, dedication, and clinical skills.

To my mother and father, thank you for always supporting my decisions, for holding me accountable, and for encouraging me that I can do anything. I can only hope that I can instill the same values in my children that you both did for me.

List of Tables	iv
Chapter 1: Introduction to the Study	1
Background	2
Problem Statement	3
Purpose of the Study	5
Research Questions and Hypotheses	5
Theoretical Framework	6
Nature of the Study	7
Definitions	7
Assumptions	8
Scope and Delimitations	8
Limitations	9
Significance	9
Summary	11
Chapter 2: Literature Review	12
Literature Search Strategy	12
Theoretical Foundation	13
Literature Review	14
History of Debriefing	. 15
Debriefing Defined	. 18
Debriefing Effects	20

## Table of Contents

Debriefing and Postresuscitation	21
Debriefing in the Emergency Department	22
Debriefing and Simulation	23
Teamwork in Health Care	25
Future Research	27
Summary and Conclusions	28
Chapter 3: Research Method	29
Research Design and Rationale	29
Methodology	30
Population	30
Sample Size	30
Data Collection	30
Instrument	31
Data Analysis	33
Threats to Validity	33
Protection of Human Subjects and Ethics	33
Summary	34
Chapter 4: Results	35
Data Collection	35
Results	36
Descriptive Statistics	36
Answering the Research Questions	39

Additional Findings	
Summary	44
Chapter 5: Discussion, Conclusions, and Recommendations	45
Interpretation of the Findings	46
Research Question 1	47
Research Question 2	47
Research Question 3	
Theoretical Framework	
Limitations of the Study	49
Recommendations	50
Implications	51
Methodological, Theoretical, and Empirical Implications	52
Practice Recommendations	53
Conclusion	54
References	56
Appendix A: Nursing Teamwork Survey	74
Appendix B: Permission to Use the Nursing Teamwork Survey	80
Appendix C: NTS Scoring	81

## List of Tables

Table 1. Frequency Counts for Selected Variables	37
Table 2. Frequency Counts for Debriefing Variables	38
Table 3. Psychometric Characteristics for the Aggregated Scale Scores	39
Table 4. Total NTS Score Based on Selected Debriefing Scores	40
Table 5. Spearman Correlations for Education, Gender, and Age With NTS Scores	42
Table 6. Spearman Correlations for Experience and Type of ED With NTS Scores	43
Table 7. Spearman Correlations for Debriefing Variables With NTS Scores	44

## Chapter 1: Introduction to the Study

When emergency department nurses are faced with an acute critical and traumatic event, they must simultaneously carry out many complex tasks. During this situation, they must manage the care of the rapidly deteriorating patient, console the family, and deal with their own spiritual and emotional feelings while working in a multidisciplinary team. There is never a single person performing all tasks; rather, many people work together for a common goal. How emergency department nurses care for one another as part of the multidisciplinary health care team is an essential component to fostering teamwork, morale, and the ability to move forward to the next critical incident. This study poses the idea that debriefing can potentially aid in fostering and supporting teamwork. The value of debriefing in these types of events is bringing new recognition to those who can lend support in these circumstances (Emergency Nurses Association, 2013).

The American Heart Association and the American Academy of Pediatrics recommend clinical event debriefing after cardiac arrest and resuscitations (U.S. Department of Health and Human Services, 2019). Debriefing involves using a communication forum in which participants share information and process a particular incident. Debriefings originated in the military and have been integrated into aviation, business, the police, schools, and the medical field (Hunter, 2016, & Kaplan et al., 2001). Although the hospital is not a war zone, hospital personnel often share information about critical incidents as military personnel would. Chapter 1 addresses the relationship between debriefings and simulation learning, quality of cardiopulmonary resuscitation (CPR), and caregivers' emotions, job satisfaction, and moral distress. At the time of the study, researchers had not examined the relationship between debriefings and effective teamwork. Because teamwork is an integral component of managing a critical incident in the emergency department, it is necessary to find tools that can support and improve teamwork. Chapter 1 includes a presentation of background information for the study followed by the problem statement, purpose, theoretical framework, and research questions. The nature and significance of the study are also presented, as well as limitations.

#### Background

Although the intent of this study was to address the most recent 5 years of literature related to the concept of debriefing, the search was expanded across an increased time frame to obtain key elements related to the history of debriefing. Debriefings have been in use since World War II, with soldiers reporting personal accounts to their superiors regarding combat and enemy strategy (Allen, Reiter-Palmon, Crowe, & Scott, 2018). Debriefing has been successfully used in emergency services professions (e.g., first responders, police officers, firefighters) as well as in military and airline industries after exposure to an unexpected traumatic event (Hokanson & Worth, 2000). Similar to first responders, emergency department (ED) nurses face stressful workloads with frequent exposure to death and human trauma, and may benefit from similar interventions (Schwab, Napolitano, Chevalier, & Pettorini-D'Amico, 2016). The combination of cumulative stress and ineffective coping mechanisms increases the risk for moral distress in the ED registered nurse (Wolf et al., 2016).

Health care debriefings were adopted from the military and aviation models and implemented into clinical settings. Debriefings in health care have been shown to reduce events that endanger patient safety, such as falls (Reiter-Palmon, Kennel, Allen, Jones, & Skinner, 2015). The current study addressed the impact debriefings have on patient care and whether debriefings benefit health care providers.

#### **Problem Statement**

Resuscitations, the process of performing life-saving efforts to patients, are stressful situations that require the collaboration of team members to effectively manage the patient. Teamwork in health care organizations is an integral component of patient safety (World Health Organization, n.d.). Exposure to life-threatening situations, such as resuscitations, can have negative sequelae on those involved, including burnout (Ríos-Risquez & García-Izquierdo, 2016), compassion fatigue (Hinderer et al., 2014), and secondary trauma stress or post-traumatic stress disorder (Cieslak et al., 2015). Emergency department nurses have a higher than average turnover rate, which may be suspected by their frequent exposure to stressful, acute situations. Debriefings are conversations between people with the purpose of discussing and reflecting upon actions in patient care and discussing how to further incorporate improvement into future patient care (U.S. Department of Health and Human Services, 2018). Debriefings have been shown to decrease occupational stress and improve focus, morale, and professional commitment (Healy & Tyrrell, 2013; Sandhu et al., 2014; Tannenbaum & Cerasoli, 2013).

Debriefings have been used across multiple disciplines since World War II for individuals to reconstruct events and deal with their psychological symptoms (Kaplan, Iancu, & Bodner, 2001). The ability of debriefings to reflect, identify errors, and make improvements serves as a useful tool for health care members in acute situations (Berg et al., 2014). Debriefings can be conducted in different manners and vary across professions and institutions. Debriefings can be formal with structured questions and content, or informal with no structured format. The timings of debriefings are referred to by temperature: Hot debriefings occur immediately after the event, warm debriefings occur within a few hours, and cold debriefings occur a few days after the event has passed. Each timing has its own set of advantages and disadvantages.

Researchers have focused on the impact of debriefings on the individual psyche and reflection. However, researchers have not examined the effect debriefings may have on the quality of interactions between staff members and the impact on teamwork, particularly within the emergency department. Also, researchers have not addressed whether the timing or format of debriefings has any relationship to teamwork. Communication within a debriefing can impact the outcome of the debriefing and should be investigated to determine its relation to team performance (Allen et al., 2018). Steinemann et al. (2015) suggested that research is needed on interprofessional knowledge and team roles within the use of debriefings. In the current study, I intended to close that gap by determining whether a relationship exists between debriefing use and perceptions of teamwork in emergency department nurses. Although emergency care of patients is collaborative, this study focused only on nurses. Future studies may include physicians and other members of the health care team.

## **Purpose of the Study**

The purpose of this study was to examine the relationship between postresuscitation debriefings and perceptions of teamwork in emergency department nurses. I also looked at the type of debriefing and timing of the debriefing to determine whether those impacted the relationship with teamwork in emergency department nurses. I used a survey to collect data on debriefing and perceptions of teamwork. That data were analyzed to determine whether there was a correlation between the two variables. Results from this study contributed to the literature on the association between debriefings and teamwork.

## **Research Questions and Hypotheses**

RQ1: Is there a relationship between the frequency of postresuscitation debriefings and perceptions of teamwork in emergency department nurses?

 $H_0$ 1: There is no relationship between frequency of postresuscitation debriefings and perceptions of teamwork in emergency department nurses.

 $H_{a}$ 1: There is a relationship between frequency of postresuscitation debriefings and perceptions of teamwork in emergency department nurses.

RQ2: Is there a relationship between the type of debriefing conducted and the perceptions of teamwork in emergency department nurses?

 $H_0$ 2: There is no relationship between the type of debriefing and the perceptions of teamwork in emergency department nurses.

 $H_a$ 2: There is a relationship between the type of debriefing and the perceptions of teamwork in emergency department nurses.

RQ3: Is there a relationship between the timing of debriefings and the perceptions of teamwork in emergency department nurses?

 $H_0$ 3: There is no relationship between the timing of debriefings and perceptions of teamwork in emergency department nurses.

 $H_{a}$ 3: There is a relationship between the timing of debriefings and perceptions of teamwork in emergency department nurses.

## **Theoretical Framework**

The theoretical basis for this study was Conti-O'Hare's (2002) nurse as wounded healer theory. The nurse as wounded healer theory is a middle range theory based on the work of psychologist Jung. In the nurse as wounded healer theory, a nurse experiences a traumatic event that makes her or him a walking wounded person, and the trauma affects her or his professional coping (Conti-O'Hare, 2002). The nurse will continue to perpetuate the cycle of being a walking wounded with job dissatisfaction and a negative work environment until something breaks the chain (Conti-O'Hare, 2002). Through a therapeutic process, the nurse can become a wounded healer who takes care of others and has a positive impact on the health care system (Conti-O'Hare, 2002). This theory can be used to build relationships and promote positive work environments (Christie & Jones, 2014). This theory is explained in greater detail in Chapter 2.

#### Nature of the Study

The nature of this study was a quantitative correlational design using a survey method. To examine the relationship between postresuscitation debriefings and teamwork, I used a correlation coefficient for analysis. Participants were recruited through the Emergency Nurses Association (ENA), which is the national organization of emergency department nurses. The survey was the Nursing Teamwork Survey (NTS) (Kalish, Lee, & Salas, 2010), which is a valid and reliable instrument (Kalisch, Lee, & Salas, 2010). Frequency if any, of debriefings was measured on a scale from never to always conducted. In addition, type of debriefing (formal, structured, or unstructured) and timing of debriefing were collected. Data collection also included participant demographics.

## **Definitions**

*Critical Incident*: Any situation that creates a significant risk of substantial or serious harm to the physical or mental health, safety or well-being of any participant (U.S. Department of Health and Human Services, n.d.).

*Debriefing*: A dialogue between two or more people; its goals are to discuss the actions and thought processes involved in a situation, encourage reflection on those actions and thought processes, and incorporate improvements into future performance (U.S. Department of Health and Human Services, 2018).

*Emergency department*: The physical space in which the medical specialty dedicated to the diagnosis and treatment of unforeseen acute illness or injury exists (American College of Emergency Physicians, 2015).

*Nurse*: A person who has completed a program of generalized nursing education and is authorized by the appropriate regulatory authority to practice nursing care on patients (International Council of Nurses, 2019).

*Teamwork*: Coordinated effort on the part of a group of persons acting together in the interests of a common cause (Salas, Burke, & Cannon-Bowers, 2000).

*Resuscitation*: An emergent or life-saving process performed when the heart stops beating in order to improve the chance of survival (American Heart Association, 2018).

*Walking wounded*: An individual who remains physically, emotionally, and spiritually bound to previous trauma (Conti-O'Hare, 2002).

*Wounded healer*: Through self-reflection and spiritual growth, the individual achieves expanded consciousness, through which the trauma is processed, converted, and healed (Conti-O'Hare, 2002).

## Assumptions

This study was based on the following assumptions:

- 1. Emergency department nurses would willingly take the survey and answer honestly.
- Participants would be able to accurately recall frequency of debriefing participation.

## **Scope and Delimitations**

Delimitation can occur from the inclusion and exclusion choices made by the researcher (Simon & Goes, 2013). The selection of the quantitative method over the qualitative method can be identified as a delimitation. Also, this study included only

emergency department nurses and their experience, if any, with debriefings. Nurses from other departments were not included in this study.

## Limitations

Potential barriers were nurse self-reporting and recruitment of participants. Lack of knowledge of the percentage of emergency department nurses who participate in debriefings could have been a barrier to reliable findings.

#### Significance

The recent literature on debriefings in healthcare has focused on the individual and his or her personal coping mechanisms and ability to self-reflect. There have been limited studies on the relationship between debriefings and teamwork, and none have focused on the emergency department. The current study provided a new perspective on the topic by addressing the impact of debriefing from the individual to the team. The ability to perform as a member of a health care team is necessary for the provision of competent clinical care (Thistlethwaite & Dallest, 2014). Building a resilient team has been shown to be essential to allow nurses to withstand the challenging demands of the emergency department (Grover, Porter, & Morphet, 2017). Given that nearly 2.7 million deaths occur annually (Centers for Disease Control and Prevention, 2017) and a significant portion occur in hospitals, support needs to be available for nurses, such as debriefing, counseling, and education on end-of-life care (Hanna, & Romana, 2007). Findings from the current study may be applied to clinical practice in emergency departments to strengthen teamwork and improve patient outcomes. The results of this study may provide insights into the relationship between debriefings and teamwork in the emergency department. Emergency department nurses may perceive a higher level of workplace stress due to traumatic events, death, and violence in the environment (Adriaenssens, De Gucht, & Maes, 2014). Results may provide information regarding debriefing as a mechanism for emergency department nurses to better cope and work together in a stressful environment. There are approximately 90,000 emergency nurses in the United States (Nurse Source, 2018), so findings may affect a large percentage of health care workers.

Emergency department nurses are more susceptible to turnover because they have an increased potential for burnout and compassion fatigue (Emergency Nurses Association, 2017). The national nurse turnover rate is currently 16.8%, and emergency department nurses exceeded the national average the past two years at 19.1% in 2016 and 20.2% in 2017 (NSI Nursing Solutions, 2018). Studies have shown that perceptions of teamwork can offset the stress and demands in emergency department nurses (Johnston et al., 2016). Findings from large organization studies indicated that team health climate is positively related to subjective reports of general health, mental health, and work ability (Schulz, Zacher, & Lippke, 2017). Building a resilient team has been shown to be essential to allow nurses to withstand the challenging demands of the emergency department (Grover et al., 2017). A positive correlation between debriefings and teamwork could lead to increasing participation in debriefings to improve perceptions of teamwork and reduce emergency department nurse turnover rates.

## **Summary**

Emergency department nurses are exposed to acute, critical, and stressful patient care on a daily basis. They must function in a fast-paced environment in a team capacity to achieve optimal patient outcomes. Emergency department nurses have a higher than average turnover rate. Debriefing has been shown to improve personal and professional resilience to cope with the demands of the nursing profession. In this chapter, I introduced the concept of debriefing and its potential to aid in teamwork among emergency department nurses. The nurse as wounded healer theory was presented as the theoretical framework to support examination of the relationship between debriefings and perceptions of teamwork in emergency department nurses. Chapter 2 provides a review of the literature, as well as the history of debriefings.

## Chapter 2: Literature Review

Resuscitations, the process of performing life-saving efforts to patients, are stressful situations that require the collaboration of a team to effectively manage the patient. Teamwork in health care organizations is identified as an integral component of patient safety (World Health Organization, n.d.). The ability to reflect, identify errors, and make improvements in debriefings serves as a useful tool for health care members in acute situations (Berg et al., 2014). The purpose of this study was to determine whether there is a relationship between postresuscitation debriefings and teamwork in emergency department nurses. This chapter presents a thorough and detailed review of the literature regarding the major concepts of debriefing and teamwork. Numerous sources were used to perform a literature search and are explained in this portion of the study.

## **Literature Search Strategy**

I reviewed literature published from 2013 to the present, except for pivotal articles dating back to 1983, to understand the origins and history of debriefing. The search strategy involved the use of several online databases including CINHAL, Medline, EBSCO, PubMed, and Thoreau to search for key words and phrases. I also used the Google Scholar search engine. Key terms used in the literature search included *debriefing, post resuscitation debriefing, debriefing* and *death, debriefing* and *barriers, nursing* and *debriefing, incident stress debriefing, critical incident stress debriefing, debriefing* and *emergency department, emergency department* and *debriefing* and *barriers, teamwork in healthcare, teamwork* and *emergency department, nursing*  teamwork, nursing and teamwork and emergency department, and nurse as wounded healer theory.

## **Theoretical Foundation**

The theoretical basis for this study was Conti-O'Hare's (2002) nurse as wounded healer theory. The nurse as wounded healer theory is a middle range theory based on the work of psychologist Jung. Jung argued that a healer's experiences of trauma and pain can be used to better help patients (Dunne, 2015).

In the nurse as wounded healer theory, a nurse experiences a traumatic event that makes him or her a walking wounded. The nurse will continue to perpetuate the cycle of being a walking wounded with job dissatisfaction and a negative work environment until something breaks the chain (Conti-O'Hare, 2002). Through a therapeutic process, the nurse can become a wounded healer to take care of others and have a positive impact on the health care system (Conti-O'Hare, 2002). This theory can be used to build relationships and promote positive work environments (Christie & Jones, 2014). There are three major stages in Conti-O'Hare's theory: the walking wounded, transformation, and transcendence. In the walking wounded stage, the nurse remains perpetually bound to a traumatic event. The transformation stage involves the ability to form new perceptions and acceptance, and transcendence is the ability to discover meaning and growth about the incident (Schwab, Napolitano, Chevalier, & Pettorini-D'Amico, 2016). According to this theory, if trauma is dealt with effectively, the nurse can transcend the experience to build better therapeutic relationships. The nurse as wounded healer theory has four key concepts: (a) traumatized individuals may pass from walking wounded to wounded

healer; (b) nurses become wounded healers after recognizing, transforming, and transcending the trauma; (c) wounded healers become able to use themselves therapeutically to help others; and (d) wounded healers will have a positive impact on the health care system, society, and the nursing profession as a whole (Conti-O'Hare, 2002).

The nurse as wounded healer theory was used to support the construct of posttraumatic stress disorder (PTSD) in the nursing profession (Shamia, Thabet, & Vostanis, 2015), as well as secondary traumatic stress in emergency nurses (Ratrout & Hamdan-Mansour, 2017). In addition, the theory has provided the framework for examining lateral/horizontal violence within the nursing profession. This theory was selected to demonstrate the potential for emergency room nurses to reflect on critical incidents that they are exposed to in their workplace and thereby improve teamwork. Debriefings have the ability to offer that reflective process. Through debriefings, emergency nurses are able to discuss critical incidents with their team members. Debriefing sessions may provide the opportunity to have a positive effect on teamwork.

#### **Literature Review**

In the current study, participation in resuscitation was the traumatic event that the nurse was exposed to making him- or herself a walking wounded. Conti-O'Hare (2002) described the use of reflective practice as an effective tool to improve practice. Through the process of debriefing, the nurse will become a wounded healer and have a positive impact on teamwork and interpersonal relationships with colleagues. The transformation into a wounded healer creates a more positive work environment.

## **History of Debriefing**

Debriefing began in the military during World War II in the 1940s. During this time United States General Atwood Marshall began conducting interviews after combat to reconstruct the events (Garnder, 2013). The interviews became a process in which soldiers reviewed and assessed the combat, and the military was able to create strategies for future missions (Gardner, 2013). Performance critiques also emerged in which soldiers performed simulated battles and superiors provided feedback to the participants (Gardner, 2013). These processes combined and eventually came to be known as the after action review (Gardner, 2013). In the early 1970s, the U.S. Army Research Institute for the Behavioral and Social Sciences transitioned the critique into a process based on performance indicators and group discussions for self-reflection (Gardner, 2013).

The 1972 crash of Flight 401 in the Everglades yielded the aviation industry's crew resource management (Gardner, 2013). Crew resource management (CRM) training is the process of debriefing and feedback to the entire flight crew post-flight (Gardner, 2013). CRM is coupled with flight simulation training to provide thorough, well-rounded feedback. CRM debriefings are still conducted after every flight, and are referred to as postflight checks (Wagener & Ison, 2014).

In 1974, Mitchell created the critical incident stress debriefing (CISD) for distressed first responders who witnessed an airplane crash in Washington D.C. (Mitchell, 2018). CISD is a specialized form of debriefing for addressing issues related to traumatic events for individuals to deal with their physical and psychological symptoms (Mitchell, 1983). The CISD intervention was initially used for those who were victims of a major event or first responders to the event (Maloney, 2012). The CISD model developed by Mitchell has three main objectives: (a) the mitigation of the impact of a traumatic incident, (b) the facilitation of the normal recovery processes and a restoration of adaptive functions in psychologically healthy people who are distressed by an unusually disturbing event, and (c) the opportunity to identify group members who might benefit from additional support services or a referral for professional care (Mitchell, 1993). Organizations that have adopted the CISD model include the United States Armed Services, the United States Department of Transportation and Aviation, Federal Emergency Management Agency, School Crisis Response Teams, and the National Employee Assistance Program (Caine & Ter-Bagdasarian, 2003; Pender & Prichard, 2009).

CISD has been used across multiple disciplines. Police officers who received CISD within 24 hours of a traumatic event were found to be less depressed, less angry, and had fewer stress symptoms at 3 months than their non debriefed colleagues (Bohl, 1991). Emergency welfare workers who participated in traumatic events stated they had experienced symptom reduction after CISD attendance (Robinson & Mitchell, 1993). Firefighters who participated in CISD showed lower anxiety symptoms 3 months after an incident compared to those who did not participate (Bohl, 1995). In 1994 over 900 people died on the sinking ferry Estonia, and symptoms of PTSD were lower in the group of emergency personnel who received CISD compared to those who did not (Nurmi, 1999). After a mass shooting in which 23 people were killed, emergency medical personnel who participated in CISD showed increased recovery and decreased depression compared to those who did not participate (Jenkins, 1996). After a significant hurricane, crisis workers who attended CISD showed reduced posttraumatic stress symptoms (Chemtob, Tomas, Law, & Cremniter, 1997). People working in New York City at the time of the September 11th attacks who were offered CISD displayed positive effects for an array of outcomes, including lower levels of alcohol, dependency, anxiety, PTSD symptoms, and depression, compared to workers who did not receive crisis intervention services (Boscarino, Adams, & Figley, 2005).

Debriefings in the medical field initially focused on patient safety (Allen et al., 2018). To address the issue of medical errors, the health care industry looked to the military and aviation industries and their use of debriefings (Gordon, Mendenhall, & O'Connor, 2013). In the late 1980s anesthesiologist David Gaba translated the aviation's crew resource management into crisis resource management. Gaba introduced this concept for use with patient simulators used in training to provide feedback (Green, Tariq, & Green, 2016). Gaba valued debriefing as an integral component of experiential learning (Howard, Gaba, Fish, Yang, & Sarnquist, 1992).

The plus-delta debriefing model is based on aviation and became modified for health care for debriefings after a clinical event. In the plus-delta model, the plus column indicates what went well and the delta column indicates what needed improvement so that individuals can learn how to work together (Gardner, 2013). Debriefings in health care have been shown to reduce events that endanger patient safety, such as falls (Reiter-Palmon et al., 2015).

## **Debriefing Defined**

Effective management of life-threatening emergencies, or critical incidents, is a key component of emergency management of patients. These incidents can be unexpected and overwhelming, and can place a great strain on the medical team members' ability to cope. Exposure to life-threatening situations can have negative sequelae on those involved, including burnout (Ríos-Risquez & García-Izquierdo, 2016), compassion fatigue (Hinderer et al., 2014), and secondary trauma stress or PTSD (Cieslak et al., 2015).

Debriefing is defined as a dialogue between two or more people; its goals are to discuss the actions and thought processes involved in a particular patient care situation, encourage reflection on those actions and thought processes, and incorporate improvements into future performance (U.S. Department of Health and Human Services, 2018). Debriefings are generally conversations addressing a particular incident. During the conversation, participants reflect on the experience, including what went right, what needed improvement, how to move forward, and emotions that were elicited (U.S. Department of Health and Human Services, 2018). Debriefing is a useful tool that can support health care professionals exposed to stressful situations (Harrison & Wu, 2017). The purpose of debriefings in health care is to promote discussions and reflection and improve behaviors in practice (Mullan, Wuestner, Kerr, Christopher, & Patel, 2013). Debriefing is an opportunity for staff to gain support, initiate communication, and improve performance. Debriefing is used to reduce distress and restore group cohesion and unit performance for a homogeneous group of people who have encountered the

same critical incident (Mitchell, 1986). For best practice, debriefs should include an opportunity to discuss and investigate information from the event, reflect on positive and negative behaviors and outcomes, discuss near misses, and consider ways to improve performance in the future (Kolbe, Grande, & Spahn, 2015).

Throughout the years, the term debriefing has been combined with other ideas and referred to by various other names. At times, it has been referred to as critiques, afteraction reviews, after-event huddles, huddles, hot washes, and postmortems (Allen et al., 2018). Defusing is a similar concept, however it is used solely to vent emotions (Kessler, Cheng, & Mullan, 2015).

Debriefings can be conducted in different manners and can vary across professions and institutions. Debriefings can be formal with structured questions and content, or informal with no structured format (US Department of Health and Human Services, 2019). The timings of debriefings are referred to by temperature. Hot debriefings occur immediately after the event, warm debriefings occur within a few hours, and cold debriefings occur a few days after the event has passed (Kessler et al.,2015). The timings have their unique advantages and disadvantages. Hot and warm debriefings have the advantage of having the entire team available and present, which can allow urgent needs to be addressed. Hot debriefings have also shown to have advantages of minimizing recall bias (Kessler et al., 2015). Potential disadvantages to hot and warm debriefings include limited time and available physical space as well as the emotional willingness of members to debrief (Kessler et al., 2015). An advantage of cold debriefings is the ability to have follow-up patient information and outcomes (Kessler et al., 2015). Disadvantages of cold debriefings include the challenge of reassembling the entire team, and recall bias due to the lapse in time (Kessler et al., 2015). Mitchell (1988) argued that the longer the time between the event and the debriefing, the less effective the debriefing will be for participants.

## **Debriefing Effects**

The ability to reflect, identify errors, and make improvements in debriefings serves as a useful tool for health care members (Berg et al., 2014). Debriefings have been shown to decrease occupational stress and improve focus, morale, and professional commitment (Healy & Tyrrell, 2013; Sandhu et al., 2014; Tannenbaum & Cerasoli, 2013). Conrad and Morrison (2018) conducted a systematic review and found that health care providers view debriefing positively, it improves their ability to manage grief, and it decreases reported symptoms of PTSD. Surveyed nurses reported benefits from debriefing in both personal and professional needs categories (Clark & McLean, 2018). The implementation of debriefings via Crisis Resource Management showed improved situational awareness and decreased reported stress levels (Katinakis, & Spronk, 2016). Debriefing in real-time has been established as an integral component of effective clinical education, quality improvement, and systems learning (US Department of Health and Human Services, 2018). Implementing a structured debriefing process showed to encourage feedback that resulted in various recommendations for change to clinical practice across Calgary area adult emergency departments (Rose & Cheng, 2018).

## **Debriefing and Postresuscitation**

Effective communication, teamwork and skills are necessary for patients requiring cardiopulmonary resuscitation. American Heart Association guidelines recommend that teams use postresuscitation debriefings to improve performance (Banji, Donoghue, Wolff, et al., 2015). Postresuscitation debriefings have shown improved cooperation, communication and situational awareness (Mullen, Wuestner, Kerr, Christopher, & Patel, 2012). The facilitation of postresuscitation debriefings for staff has shown to contribute to enhanced morale, improved staff retention, and better patient care interactions (Berg et al., 2016; Kessler et al., 2015). Debriefings have also shown improvements in cardiopulmonary resuscitation quality (Bhanji, Donoghue, Wolff, Flores, Halamek, Berman, et. al, 2015). After the implementation of trauma postresuscitation debriefings, improvements were shown in patient care communication, workload, and more agreeable to give and receive feedback (Berg, Hervey, Basham-Saif, Parsons, Acuna, & Lippoldt, 2014). Implementation of a postcode pause at a trauma center showed improved ability to regroup before returning to work, and ability to pay homage to the patient (Copeland & Liska, 2016). Intensive care nurses who participated in postresuscitation debriefings selfreported that it allowed them to develop both in their role as a nurse and as a team member, and discussed the importance of talking about troubling events so that they "did not bring adverse feelings home with them" (Sjoberg, Schonnin and Salzman-Erikson, 2015).

## **Debriefing in the Emergency Department**

Emergency department nurses may sense a higher level of workplace stress due to traumatic events, death and violence in the workplace (Adriaenssens, De Gucht, & Maes, 2014). Emergency department nurses have a higher prevalence of PTSD than in the general population (Schwab, Napolitano, Chevalier, & Pettorini-D'Amico, 2016). Emergency department workers are particularly susceptible to moral distress and compassion fatigue, due to the frequent exposure to critical incidents (Hammerle, Devendorf, Murray, & McGhee, 2018). In the emergency department, due to repeated exposure to high acuity patients and high volume, nurses need the opportunity to have debriefings emphasize the feelings of resiliency to compassion fatigue (Schmidt & Haglund, 2017). In severe cases where emotional distress is unresolved or left untreated, hospital emergency personnel are at risk for developing Post-Traumatic Stress Disorder (de Boer et al., 2011)

Debriefing sessions not only allow emergency department staff to express their feelings and emotions, but also allows for discussions on how to improve future performance (Kessler, Cheng, & Mullan, 2014). Emergency department staff revealed that debriefing sessions after critical events are "important" or "very important" (Healy & Tyrrell, 2013). Emergency department nurses reported that debriefings should be mandated following CPR and traumatic events, and are helpful when dealing with emotions (Ross-Adjie, Leslie, & Gillman, 2007).

The emergency department presents itself with a unique set of barriers compared to other environments for debriefings to occur. A study of Canadian emergency department physicians and nurses found that debriefings were occurring in less than 25% of resuscitations. (Sandhu et al, 2014). Similarly, a study of United States pediatric emergency fellows also reported a less than 25% debriefing occurrence (Zinns, O'Connell, Mullan, Ryan, & Wratney, 2015). Unlike regular hospital units that can delay admissions to allow time for staff to recover and proceed, the emergency department is a revolving door of patients, injuries and sickness. One identified barrier that emergency department nurses could not attend debriefing sessions was due to being unable to be relieved from their duties (Ross-Adjie, 2007). Emergency department care demands affect not just nurses, but also impact physician availability to help facilitate debriefings (Rose & Cheng, 2018). In a national needs assessment of emergency departments in Canada, 90.4% indicated that emergency workload and time shortages are major barriers to effective debriefing (Sandhu et al, 2014). A main conclusion of a 2013 study informed that there is a lack of formal debriefing policies in the emergency department, yet it should be implemented to reduce the stress effects on staff members (Healy & Tyrell, 2013). Despite their benefits, post incident debriefings occur infrequently in most healthcare settings (Eppich, Mullan, Brett-Flegler, & Cheng, 2016).

## **Debriefing and Simulation**

Simulation is a technique used in healthcare to replace real clinical emergent situations with guided experiences in a fully interactive method. Debriefing is an integral and critical part of the simulation process (Levett-Jones & Lapkin, 2013). The National League for Nursing (2015) has the position that nursing schools should have debriefings incorporated into their simulation learning. Post simulation debriefings allowed students

to become active participants in the learning process which bolstered their clinical judgment and performance (Sabei & Lasater, 2016). Incorporating debriefing into simulation has shown to enhance learning and heighten learner self-confidence (Decker, Fey, Sideras, Caballero, Rockstraw, Boese, Franklin, Gloe, Lioce, Sando, Meakim, & Borum, 2013). Simulation debriefings have shown a significant impact on cognitive, psychosocial and affective areas (Coutinho, Parreira, Martins, Cabral, Duarte, Amaral, & Pereira, 2016). While participating in simulations, nursing students reported debriefings as the most important component for gaining clinical judgment (Kelly, Hager, & Gallagher, 2014). The inclusion of reflective debriefings with simulations for nurse practitioner students led to a significant increase in critical thinking skills (Morse, 2015). Debriefing is a main component in the learning process with simulations, it provides learners opportunities to reflect on simulated clinical events, identify and analyze areas of strength and/or areas for improvement, solutions to problems, and applications to future clinical practice (Cheng, Grant, Robinson, Catena, Lachapelle, Kim, Adler, & Eppich, 2016). Post-simulation debriefing that include goal setting have been shown to improve teamwork performance (Gardner, Kosemund, Hogg, Heymann, & Martinez, 2017). Healthcare students report that post simulation debriefing allowed them to be more prepared to work in an interdisciplinary team (Andersen, Coverdale, Kelly, & Forster, 2018). Nursing students who participated in simulation debriefings reported that it improved their skills by allowing them to feel more comfortable to open communication, and ask questions with their colleagues (Coutinho, Parreira, Martins, Cabral, Duarte, Amaral, & Pereira, 2016).

In addition to clinical learning, participants in simulation debriefing have also had the opportunity to debrief their own personal experience (Verkuyl, Lapum, St-Amant, Betts, & Hughes, 2017). During simulation debriefings, learners are encouraged to reflect not only on simulation events, but also their own thought processes, their emotions experienced, and their decisions made (Cockerham, 2015; Fey, Scrandis, Daniels, & Haut, 2014).

## **Teamwork in Health Care**

Teamwork in healthcare is defined as a process involving two or more individuals, sharing common health goals and exercising collaborative efforts for patient care outcomes (Xyrichis, & Ream, 2008). Healthcare is a complex system that requires the coordination of team members in a high-stressful environment. As such, teamwork is an important component of healthcare delivery, it involves communication and collaboration for a common goal. Teamwork in healthcare organizations is identified as an integral component of patient safety (World Health Organization, n.d.). In 1999, the Institute of Medicine (IOM) issued the sentinel report, To Err is Human: Building a Safer Health System, which highlighted medical errors due to dysfunctional teamwork (Lerner, Magrane, Friedman, 2009).

With the population aging and the prevalence of chronic disease, there is a need for improved interprofessional teamwork (Blumenthal et al, 2016). The increasing complexity of patients attributes to bedside nursing as being a high-stress profession (Rushton, Caldwell, & Kurtz, 2016). The ability to perform as a member of the healthcare team is necessary for the provision of competent clinical care (Thistlethwaite & Dallest,
2014). Positive associations have been found between patients' self-reported satisfaction with their care and higher performing inpatient teams (Lyu, Wick, Housman, Freischlag, & Makary, 2013). Patient satisfaction and willingness to comply to treatment regimen are highly correlated with patients' perceptions of emergency department staff teamwork (Kipnis, Rhodes, Burchill, & Datner, 2013). In the emergency department, the practice of teamwork has shown to improve job satisfaction and the ability to manage workload collectively (Ajeigbe, McNeese-Smith, Phillips, & Leach, 2014) . A large-scale survey by the U.K. National Health Service revealed that degree to which healthcare workers reported conducting their work in effective teams was associated with a range of patient outcomes, including rates of errors, and patient mortality (Lyubovnikova, West, Dawson, & Carter, 2015).

A meta-analysis of teamwork studies have shown numerous replications of the connections between quality of teamwork and both patient and healthcare provider outcomes (Rosen, DiazGranados, Dietz, Benishek, Thompson, Pronovost, & Weaver, 2018). Hospitals in which staff report higher levels of teamwork (i.e., clear roles) have lower rates of workplace injuries and illness, experiences of workplace harassment and violence, as well as lower levels of staff intent to leave the organization (Lyubovnikova et al., 2015).

With respect to debriefings and teamwork, there have been several studies highlighting its benefits it areas other than the emergency department. Debriefings in the operating room have been shown to improve teamwork (Law, Hildebrand, Oliveira-Gomes, Hallbeck, & Blocker, 2014). In post simulation debriefings, groups that performed goal-setting were shown to have improved teamwork performance (Gardner, Kosemund, Hog, Heymann, & Martinez, 2017). Reviews of trauma resuscitations without debriefings showed a disconnect in perceptions of responsibility and teamwork (Steinemann, Kurasowa, Wei, Lin, et al 2017).

### **Future Research**

It has been suggested that the communication and interaction within a debriefing can impact its outcome, and should be investigated to determine its relation to team performance (Allen, Reiter-Palmon, Crowe, & Scott, 2018). Debriefing sessions are a valuable tool for healthcare professionals, yet they are not practiced enough (Rivera-Chiauzzi et al., 2016). Elements of CISD programs are beginning to be used in some hospital settings, but outcomes have not been closely examined (Schwab, Napolitano, Chevalier, & Pettorini-D'Amico, 2016). Further research is needed in order to identify strategies that are effective in overcoming barriers that prevent debriefings from being conducted (Clark & McLean, 2018). Future research is needed to determine how realtime critical incident debriefing can be more effectively evaluated and more widely utilized (US Department of Health and Human Services, 2018). Additional research is needed to identify barriers to hot debriefings and to evaluate the impact of hot debriefings on the resuscitation process and patient outcomes (Sweberg, Sen, Mullan, Cheng, Knight, delCastillo, Ikeyama, Seshadri, Hazinski, Raymond, Niles, Nadkarni, & Walfe, 2018). Future research is needed on interprofessional knowledge and team roles within the use of debriefings (Steinemann, Kurosawa, Wei, Ho, Lim, Suares, Bhatt, and Berg, 2015).

### **Summary and Conclusions**

In this chapter I provided insights into the history of debriefings, as well as the many researched benefits. Debriefings have been shown to improve morale, patient outcomes, and clinical judgements. Major themes in the literature have shown positive relationships between debriefings and simulation, patient care in the emergency department, as well as resuscitation efforts. The literature analysis found that nurses view debriefings positively, and that it aides in personal and professional stress. Teamwork was also discussed as an integral component of patient care, particularly in critical situation. Despite the many highlighted benefits, there has been a paucity of literature on debriefings' interpersonal effects, in particular a gap in knowledge with any relationship with teamwork. Chapter 3 will explore the methodology to be used in this study.

### Chapter 3: Research Method

The purpose of this quantitative correlational study was to explore the possible relationship between postresuscitation debriefings and emergency department nurses' perceptions of teamwork. Emergency department nurses completed a survey on nursing teamwork, as well as frequency and type of debriefings. Conti-O'Hare's nurse as wounded healer theory was the theoretical framework for this study. This chapter provides information about the research design and rationale, the population, and the sample included in this study. In addition, the instrumentation and threats to validity are discussed. Lastly, protection of human subjects is explained. A summary concludes this chapter.

#### **Research Design and Rationale**

The design of this study was quantitative correlational using a survey method. A correlation coefficient was used for analysis of the relationship between postresuscitation debriefings and perceptions of teamwork. The data collection survey was the Nursing Teamwork Survey (Kalisch et al., 2010), a valid and reliable instrument whose permission was obtained from the developer for use in this study (see Appendix C). Frequency of debriefings was measured on a scale from never to always conducted. Data collection also included participant demographics (i.e., gender, age) and the type of debriefings used. Data regarding frequency, type, and timing of debriefings were used to answer the research questions. Because the research questions addressed emergency department nurses, a survey method was used to elicit first-hand responses from the participants.

# Methodology

# **Population**

Participants included registered nurses who were employed as emergency department nurses in the United States. I defined the target population as nurses who were registered with active nursing licenses and were over the age of 18 years. The population included registered nurses without limitations on gender, age (if older than 18 years), or ethnicity.

# Sample Size

To compute the sample size, I used GPower 3.1 software developed by Faul, Erdfelder, Buchner, and Lang (2009). Using the GPower software, I performed a power analysis for Pearson correlation as expressed as a linear regression model with one predictor. The conventional alpha (level of significance) value for the study was set at  $\alpha$  = .05, the power was set at .80, and the medium effect size was set at .15. According to these values, the sample required 55 participants to achieve significance.

## **Data Collection**

Participants were recruited via mailing list by the Emergency Nurses Association (ENA). The ENA includes approximately 40,000 nurses from every state. The ENA offers a membership database that contains over 40,000 names and addresses of ENA members across the United States. After obtaining approval from the Walden University institutional review board (06-24-19-015115), I sent an application to the ENA for access to members on the mailing list. After approval from the ENA, surveys were mailed for recruitment. Mailings included explanation of the study, the survey, basic demographic

collection, and a stamped return address envelope. There was also a statement for consent and assurance of confidentiality that there would be no identifying information collected. There was also a website link for a Survey Monkey if members chose to participate electronically. Five hundred surveys were mailed to ENA members. Having participants recruited through the ENA allowed for greater access to nurses with various experiences with debriefings. Although the mailing list was obtained from the ENA, the organization does not support or endorse this study.

# Instrument

The method of data collection was the Nursing Teamwork Survey (NTS) tool. The NTS was created by Kalisch et al. (2010) to assess nursing teamwork in hospitals. The NTS is a 33-item questionnaire in which responses are measured on a 5-point Likerttype scaling system (1 = rarely, 2 = 25% of the time, 3 = 50% of the time, 4 = 75% of the time, and 5 = always). A higher score is reflective of a higher level of nursing teamwork. The NTS is scored in five subscales: trust (7 items), team orientation (9 items), backup (6 items), shared mental model (7 items), and team leadership (4 items) (see Appendix B). The trust subscale is used to measure whether team members trust that their team members will complete their responsibilities on a consistent basis (Kalisch, Lee, & Salas, 2010). The team orientation subscale is used to measure the extent to which the team's needs are more important than the individual (Kalisch, Lee, & Salas, 2010). The backup subscale is used to measure the willingness of team members to help one another when they identify that someone is busy or overloaded with work (Kalisch, Lee, & Salas, 2010). The shared mental model subscale is used to measure the extent to which team members understand their roles and responsibilities so that all team members work toward the common goal (Kalisch, Lee, & Salas, 2010). The team leadership subscale is used to measure the presence of guidance, support, and coordination for the team (Kalisch et al., 2010). Prior to the development of the NTS, no acceptable, reliable, and valid survey instrument existed that differentiated between the levels of nursing teamwork on inpatient units in acute care hospitals.

Kalisch initially identified that patient care and unit operations are affected by lack of nursing teamwork (Kalisch & Begeny, 2005). In 2009, Kalisch and colleagues conducted a qualitative study through the framework of the Salas Big Five to determine core nursing teamwork components. An outcome of the 2009 study was the need to validate results, from which Kalisch et al. developed and tested the NTS.

To test the psychometric soundness of the NTS, Kalisch et al. (2010) administered the test in a large academic hospital with 1,758 nurse participants. Content validity was established by a panel of experts. The content validity for the NTS index was 91.2%. Test-retest reliability was identified: r = .92 for overall 33 items, r = .77 to .87 for the five subscales, and internal consistency ( $\alpha = .94$  for overall items,  $\alpha = .74$  to .85 for the subscales). As a result, the NTS was deemed to have good psychometric properties.

Kalisch used the NTS is studies in 2009, 2010, 2012, and 2013 to draw correlations with nursing characteristics and NTS scores. The NTS has been positively related to higher staffing levels (Kalisch, 2011), job satisfaction (Kalisch, 2010), and missed nursing care (Kalisch, 2012). The psychometric properties of the NTS was tested in an Icelandic translated questionnaire. The 2016 study showed the NTS-Icelandic to be valid and reliable, thereby supporting its international use (Bragadóttir, Kalisch, Smáradóttir, & Jónsdóttir, 2016).

### **Data Analysis**

Participant demographics from the surveys were analyzed using simple descriptive statistics. A Pearson correlation as expressed as a linear regression model with one predictor was used to determine the level of the relationship between debriefings and perception of teamwork in emergency department nurses.

#### **Threats to Validity**

Nonresponse bias occurs when survey respondents differ in significant ways from nonrespondents (Creswell, 2009). To minimize this threat, I mailed the survey via a large national organization, which granted access to a larger population. Doing so enabled access to more potential respondents. Another way to mitigate this threat was not collecting personal identifying information.

The Hawthorne effect was another possible threat to validity because the participants may have altered their responses according to what they thought I would consider to be a good response. Limitations also included the fact that the data were self-reported, so the accuracy of the answers could not be objectively assessed. Although construct validity is a common threat in survey studies, the use of a valid and reliable tool alleviated that threat.

#### **Protection of Human Subjects and Ethics**

This study was reviewed by the Walden University IRB. No data were collected until IRB approval was granted. Only legal adults were permitted to join the study. Choosing to participate in the study acted as informed consent. All information was kept confidential, and no identifying information was collected. All of the responses were anonymous, and there was no identifying responses collected. Research reports contained data in forms that did not permit individual participants to be identified. Data will be kept for 5 years in a locked cabinet and in a password-protected computer at my home.

### Summary

In this chapter I introduced the methodology and research design of this study. Threats to validity and protection of human subjects were also discussed. The purpose of this quantitative study was to examine the relationship between postresuscitation debriefings and the perceptions of teamwork in emergency department nurses. I used a survey method and a correlation coefficient to analyze the relationship between postresuscitation debriefings and teamwork. GPower analysis was used to determine sample size, and the population consisted of currently registered emergency department nurses who were accessed via the Emergency Nurses Association. Chapter 4 will present the findings from the study.

### Chapter 4: Results

The purpose of this study was to determine whether there was a relationship between postresuscitation debriefings and perceptions of teamwork in emergency department nurses. I also looked at the type of debriefing and timing to determine whether those impacted the relationship with teamwork in emergency department nurses. Survey data from 68 nurses were used. Table 1 displays the frequency counts for selected variables. Table 2 displays the frequency counts for the debriefing variables. Table 3 displays the psychometric characteristics for the six NTS aggregated scale scores. Table 4 displays the total NTS score based on each of three debriefing scores to answer the three research questions. As additional findings, Tables 5 through 7 display the Spearman correlations for selected variables with the six NTS scores. In this chapter I explain the process of data analysis, present the results, and interpret the findings with regard to answering each research question.

### **Data Collection**

I used a quantitative survey design. Participants were recruited via mailing list by the Emergency Nurses Association (ENA). The ENA consists of approximately 40,000 members. There were 500 mailed surveys distributed to ENA members, with a 15.6% response rate (N = 78). Surveys were distributed, and I allowed for 6 weeks for response time. Data were collected using the Nursing Teamwork Survey, which was shown to be a valid and reliable scale in statistical analysis (Kalisch, 2010). There were initially 78 survey responses; however, six surveys were excluded for missing more than two responses, and four were removed as univariate outliers, which reduced the sample to 68.

# Results

# **Descriptive Statistics**

Table 1 displays the frequency counts for selected variables. Respondents lived in 27 states with the most common being Michigan (10.3%), Illinois (8.8%), Maine (7.4%), and Ohio (7.4%). Most of the nurses had either a bachelor's degree (52.9%) or a graduate degree (32.4%). Most (85.3%) were female. Ages of the nurses ranged from 25 to 34 years (26.5%) to 65 years and over (4.4%) with the median age of 39.50 years. As for experience, over half (55.9%) had over 10 years of experience. When surveyed as to whether they worked in a pediatric, adult, or combined emergency department, 83.8% reported working in a combined setting.

Table 1

Variable	Category	n	%
State			
	Michigan	7	10.3
	Illinois	6	8.8
	Maine	5	7.4
	Ohio	5	7.4
	Other states	45	66.2
Education			
	Associate's degree	10	14.7
	Bachelor's degree	36	52.9
	Graduate degree	22	32.4
Gender			
	Female	58	85.3
	Male	10	14.7
Age			
	25 to 34 years	18	26.5
	35 to 44 years	19	27.9
	45 to 54 years	14	20.6
	55 to 64 years	14	20.6
	65 years and over	3	4.4
Experience			
	6 months to 2 years	3	4.4
	2 to 5 years	10	14.7
	5 to 10 years	17	25.0
	Over 10 years	38	55.9
Combined emergency department	-		
	No	11	16.2
	Yes	57	83.8

Frequency Counts for Selected Variables (N = 68)

Table 2 displays the frequency counts for the three debriefing variables. These variables included the frequency of debriefing as well as the timing and the formality level of the briefing. Twenty-one percent of the sample reported never having debriefings after the incidents. As for the frequency of debriefings, almost two thirds of the sample (63.3%) had debriefings between 25% to 50% of the time. Three quarters of the sample had their debriefings either immediately after or soon after the incident. As for the formality level of the debriefing, the most common approach was informal (60.3%). Table 2

Variable	Category	п	%
Frequency of debriefings			
	Never	14	20.6
	25% of the time	28	41.2
	50% of the time	15	22.1
	25% of the time250% of the time175% of the time1Always1Do not debrief1Cold (after delay)1		11.8
	Always	3	4.4
Timing of debriefings			
	Do not debrief	14	20.6
	Cold (after delay)	3	4.4
	Warm (soon after)	34	50.0
	Hot (immediately after)	17	25.0
Formality level of debriefing			
	Do not debrief	14	20.6
	Informal debrief	41	60.3
	Formal debrief	13	19.1

Frequency Counts for Debriefing Variables (N = 68)

Table 3 displays the psychometric characteristics for the six aggregated NTS scale scores. These scales were based on a 5-point scale: 1 = rarely to 5 = always. The total score had a mean of 3.52. Among the five subscales scores, the highest mean was for shared mental model (M = 3.93) while the lowest subscale score was for team orientation (M = 3.30). Cronbach's alpha reliability coefficients ranged in size from.75 to.95 with the median alpha coefficient of .85. This suggested that all scales had acceptable levels of internal reliability (see Creswell, 2009).

Table 3

	Number						
Scale Score	of Item	s Low	Higł	n M	SD	α	
Total Score	33	2.21	4.67	3.52	0.57	.95	
Trust Score	7	1.86	5.00	3.33	0.72	.86	
Team Orientation Score	9	2.22	4.67	3.30	0.58	.75	
Backup Score	6	2.17	4.67	3.53	0.66	.83	
Shared Mental Model Score	e 7	2.43	5.00	3.93	0.60	.88	
Team Leadership Score	4	1.25	5.00	3.58	0.80	.82	

Psychometric Characteristics for the Aggregated Scale Scores (N = 68)

# **Answering the Research Questions**

Research Question 1 was the following: Is there a relationship between the frequency of postresuscitation debriefings and perceptions of teamwork in emergency department nurses? The related null hypothesis was the following: There is no relationship between frequency of postresuscitation debriefings and perceptions of teamwork in emergency department nurses. Table 4 displays the total NTS score based

on the frequency of debriefing. Results indicated significant differences in the NTS total score based on the frequency of the debriefing ( $\eta = .41$ , p = .02). Scheffe post hoc tests indicated no significant differences between the frequency categories for the NTS total score. This combination of findings provided support to reject the null hypothesis. Table 4

Debriefing score	Category	п	М	SD	η	F	р
Trues of debuisfing					26	1 72	01
Type of debriefing a	1 Do not dobrief	14	2 20	0.64	.30	4.73	.01
	1. Do not debrief	14	3.28	0.64			
	2. Informal debrief	41	3.47	0.50			
	3. Formal debrief	13	3.90	0.55			
Frequency of debriefing					.41	3.24	.02
	1. Never	14	3.28	0.64			
	2. 25% of the time	28	3.43	0.49			
	3. 50% of the time	15	3.52	0.61			
	4.75% of the time	8	3.99	0.24			
	5. Always	3	4.07	0.47			
Timing of debriefings •					.36	3.18	.03
	1. Do not debrief	14	3.28	0.64			
	2. Cold (after delay)	3	3.45	0.85			
	<ol> <li>Warm (soon after)</li> <li>Hot (immediately</li> </ol>	34	3.45	0.47			
	after)	17	3.85	0.54			

Total NTS Score Based on Selected Debriefing Scores (N = 68)

<sup>a</sup> Scheffe post hoc tests: 3 > 1, 2 (p < .05); no other pair of means were significantly different.

<sup>b</sup> Scheffe post hoc tests: no pair of means were significantly different at the p < .05 level.

• Scheffe post hoc tests: 4 > 1 (p < .05); no other pair of means were significantly different.

Research Question 2 was the following: Is there a relationship between the type of debriefing conducted and the perceptions of teamwork in emergency department nurses? The related null hypothesis was the following: There is no relationship between types of debriefings and the perception of teamwork in emergency department nurses. Table 4 displays the total NTS score based on the type of debriefing. A one-way ANOVA test and eta coefficient (relationship between a categorical variable and a continuous variable) were used. Results indicated significant differences in the NTS total score based on type of debriefing ( $\eta = .36$ , p = .01). Scheffe post hoc tests indicated the NTS total score to be significantly higher during a formal debriefing (M = 3.90) than during an informal debriefing or in situations where no debriefing occurred. This combination of findings provided support to reject the null hypothesis.

Research Question 3 was the following: Is there a relationship between the timing of debriefings and the perceptions of teamwork in emergency department nurses? The related null hypothesis was the following: There is no relationship between the timing of debriefings and perceptions of teamwork in emergency department nurses. Table 4 displays the total NTS score based on the timing of the debriefing. Results indicated significant differences in the NTS total score based on the timing of the debriefing ( $\eta = .36$ , p = .03). Scheffe post hoc tests indicated the NTS total score to be significantly higher during a hot (immediately after) debrief (M = 3.85) than during situations in which no debriefing occurs (M = 3.28). This combination of findings provided support to reject the null hypothesis.

# **Additional Findings**

Table 5 displays the Spearman correlations for education, gender, and age with each of the six NTS scores. For the resulting 18 correlations, three were significant at the p < .05 level. Younger nurses had higher scores for trust ( $r_s = -.29$ , p < .05), shared mental models ( $r_s = -.26$ , p < .05), and team leadership ( $r_s = -.24$ , p < .05).

# Table 5

Spearman Correlations for Education, Gender, and Age With NTS Scores (N = 68)

NTS Score	Education	Gender <sup>a</sup>	Age
Total score	.01	.10	18
Trust score	.01	.01	29 *
Team orientation score	.02	.02	.07
Backup score	03	.15	12
Shared mental model score	.01	.14	26 *
Team leadership score	.04	.12	24 *

*Note*. \* *p* < .05. Gender: 1 = *Female* 2 = *Male*.

Table 6 displays the Spearman correlations for experience and type of emergency department with each of the six NTS scores. For the resulting 12 correlations, two were significant at the p < .05 level. Non combined emergency department nurses had higher scores for trust ( $r_s = -.29$ , p < .05) and for team leadership ( $r_s = -.25$ , p < .05).

# Table 6

Spearman Correlations for Experience and Type of ED with NTS Scores (N = 68)

NTS score	ED experience	Type <sup>a</sup>	
Total score	10	22	
Trust score	19	29	*
Team orientation score	.04	02	
Backup score	04	20	
Shared mental model score	17	18	
Team leadership score	14	25	*

*Note*. \* p < .05. Emergency Department (ED): 0 = Separate 1 = Combined pediatric and adult patients.

Table 7 displays the Spearman correlations for each of the three debriefing variables with each of the six NTS scores. For the resulting 18 correlations, all but three correlations were significant at the p < .05 level. The NTS team orientation score was not significantly related to any of the three debriefing scores. Among the 15 significant correlations, the strongest correlations were for the trust score with the formality of the debriefing ( $r_{.}=.41$ , p < .001) and for the timing of the debriefing ( $r_{.}=.41$ , p < .001). Another of the largest correlations was between the team leadership score and the frequency of debriefing score ( $r_{.}=.40$ , p < .001).

I	Debriefing varia	bles				
NTS Score	Formality	Fr	requency		Timing	
Total score	.34	***	.36	***	.33	**
Trust score	.41	****	.37	***	.41	****
Team orientation score	.17		.21		.12	
Backup score	.30	**	.27	*	.35	***
Shared mental model score	e .30	**	.33	**	.29	*
Team leadership score	.33	**	.40	****	.33	**

Spearman Correlations for Debriefing Variables With NTS Scores (N = 68)

*Note*. \* *p* < .05. \*\* *p* < .01. \*\*\* *p* < .005. \*\*\*\* *p* < .001.

# Summary

I used data from 68 nurses to determine whether there was a relationship between postresuscitation debriefings and perceptions of teamwork in emergency department nurses. Hypothesis 1 (frequency of debriefing and trust) was supported (see Table 4). Hypothesis 2 (type of debriefing and trust) was supported (see Table 4). Hypothesis 3 (timing of debriefing and trust) was supported (see Table 4). In Chapter 5, I interpret the findings in the context of related literature and present conclusions, implications, and recommendations. Chapter 5: Discussion, Conclusions, and Recommendations

This chapter begins with a discussion and comparison of major findings as related to the literature on debriefings, teamwork, and nursing. Also included in this chapter is a discussion of connections to the theoretical framework of the nurse as wounded healer. The chapter concludes with a discussion of the limitations of the study, areas for future research, implications for social change, and a brief summary.

The purpose of this quantitative study was to determine whether there was a relationship between postresuscitation debriefings and perceptions of teamwork in emergency department nurses. I sought to answer three research questions:

RQ1: Is there a relationship between the frequency of postresuscitation debriefings and perceptions of teamwork in emergency department nurses?

RQ2: Is there a relationship between the type of debriefing conducted and the perceptions of teamwork in emergency department nurses?

RQ3: Is there a relationship between the timing of postresuscitation debriefings and perceptions of teamwork in emergency department nurses?

I used a survey method to collect data on debriefing and perceptions of teamwork in emergency department nurses. That data were analyzed using a correlation coefficient to determine whether there was a relationship between the two variables. There were initially 78 survey responses; however, six surveys were excluded for missing more than one response, and four were removed as univariate outliers, which resulted in a total sample of 68. This study contributed to the gap in the literature on debriefings and teamwork. Key findings from this study indicated that trust, team orientation, backup, shared mental model, and leadership were higher when debriefings were formal, higher frequency, and immediately after the event had occurred. Results for all three research questions supported their alternative hypotheses and disputed their null hypotheses. There was a significant correlation between formal process and NTS total score, r = .341, p = .004; trust score, r = .383, p = .001; backup score, r = .299, p = .013; shared mental model, r = .319, p = .008; and team leadership, r = .324, p = .007. There was a significant correlation between debriefing frequency and NTS total score, r = .388, p = .001; trust score, r = .382, p = .001; team orientation, r = .260, p = .032, backup score, r = .285, p = .018; shared mental model, r = .371, p = .002; and team leadership, r = .408, p = .001. There was a significant correlation between timing and NTS total score, r = .310, p = .010; trust score, r = .358, p = .003; backup score, r = .321, p = .008; shared mental model, r = .371, p = .002; and team leadership, r = .408, p = .001. There was a significant correlation between timing and NTS total score, r = .310, p = .010; trust score, r = .358, p = .003; backup score, r = .321, p = .008; shared mental model, r = .312, p = .003; backup score, r = .321, p = .008; shared mental model, r = .312, p = .003; backup score, r = .321, p = .008; shared mental model, r = .312, p = .001; and team leadership, r = .338, p = .006.

### **Interpretation of the Findings**

The intent of this study was to explore the relationship between postresuscitation debriefings and perceptions of teamwork in emergency department nurses. In this section, the findings of this study are compared to what had been found in the peer-reviewed literature reviewed in Chapter 2. I focus on the ways in which the findings confirm, disconfirm, or extend knowledge in nursing. Furthermore, the findings are analyzed and interpreted in the context of the nurse as wounded healer theory.

Pearsons correlation coefficients were used to answer three research questions addressing the relationship between postresuscitation debriefings and perceptions of teamwork. The results presented in Chapter 4 indicated a positive correlation between debriefings and multiple metrics of teamwork. Increased frequency of debriefings was related to increased trust, team orientation, team backup, shared mental model, and leadership. Formal debriefings and immediate (hot) debriefings were related to increased trust, team backup, shared mental model, and leadership. The results of this study were consistent with those from other studies previously conducted and discussed, and will be compared to each research question.

# **Research Question 1**

Research question 1 focused on the frequency with which debriefings occur, from never to always. This measure had a positive correlation across all six measures of the NTS: total score, trust, team orientation, backup, shared mental model, and leadership. These results were similar to those found in previous studies. Health care students reported that post simulation debriefing allowed them to be more prepared to work in an interdisciplinary team (Andersen et al., 2018). With regard to team orientation, results were similar to how debriefings were shown to have improved cooperation, communication, and situational awareness (Mullan et al., 2012). Similarly, reviews of trauma resuscitations without debriefings showed a disconnect in perceptions of responsibility and teamwork (Steinemann et al., 2017).

# **Research Question 2**

Research question 2 focused on the type of debriefings, from never to formal scripted. This measure had a positive correlation across five of the six measures of the NTS: total score, trust, backup, shared mental model, and leadership. This finding was

similar to previous research that showed that standardizing the method of conducting debriefings helps aid clinical teams in their performance (Arciaga, Whalen, Brewer, & Hammer, 2019). Similarly, structured debriefings have been shown to help identify areas for improvement in communication and situational awareness (Kessler et al., 2015; Lacerenza, Marlow, Tannenbaum, & Salas, 2018).

# **Research Question 3**

Research question 3 focused on the timing of debriefings, from cold (delayed) to hot (immediately). This measure had a positive correlation across five of the six measures of the NTS: total score, trust, backup, shared mental model, and leadership. Results indicated that these subtopics of the NTS are higher when debriefings are hot. This finding was similar to the initial development of critical incident stress debriefing, which indicated that the longer the time between the event and the debriefing, the less effective the debriefing will be on participants (Mitchell, 1988). Hot debriefings have also shown to have advantages of minimizing recall bias (Kessler et al., 2015). Disadvantages to hot and warm debriefings include limited time and available physical space as well as the emotional willingness of members to debrief (Kessler et al., 2015).

### **Theoretical Framework**

The theoretical basis for this study was Conti-O'Hare's (2002) nurse as wounded healer theory. In this theory the nurse experiences a traumatic event that makes her or him a walking wounded. The nurse is traumatized, which affects both personal and professional coping. The nurse perpetuates the cycle of being a walking wounded through job dissatisfaction and a negative work environment until something breaks the cycle. Walking wounded nurses may appear irritated, impatient, or exhibit aggressive, which separates them from their professional team (Geoffrion, Morsely, & Guay, 2016; Maloney, 2012). Through a therapeutic process, the nurse can become a wounded healer and take care of others in the future, thereby having a positive impact on the health care system. Findings from the study suggested that the debriefing process can be the therapeutic process to aid nurses in becoming wounded healers. Debriefings offered to distraught health care members provide support and an opportunity to make meaning of traumatic events (Maloney, 2012).

In the nurse as wounded healer theory, Conti-O'Hare (2002) recognized that for nurses to be able to effectively manage patients, they must have shared trauma and recovery experiences. In the current study, the shared trauma was the resuscitation, and the recovery experience was the debriefing. Conti-O'Hare used the Q.U.E.S.T. Model to assist nurses in coping with critical situations. The Q.U.E.S.T. model has nurses evaluate themselves to determine where they are in terms of dealing with an incident by evaluating six areas: question, uncover, experience, search for meaning, transform, and transcend (Conti-O'Hare, 2002). Through the process of debriefing, the nurse and other health care members go through their Q.U.E.S.T. to discuss the actions and thought processes involved in the situation (Q.U.E.), encourage reflection (S), and incorporate improvements into future performance (T).

#### Limitations of the Study

The results of this study are not generalizable to the general nursing population. The study was conducted with solely emergency department nurses and findings are not generalizable to nurses who practice in other disciplines. Generalizability can also not be extended to other members of the health care team. This study focused on nurses' perceptions of teamwork, yet managing a critical patient requires the coordination of physicians, technicians, pastoral care, and other ancillary staff. The perceptions of other members of the health care team may differ from those of the nurses.

The Emergency Nurses Association has approximately 40,000 members, but the study sample included only a small percentage of the organization. Although participants were not excluded due to any race, creed, or culture, that demographic information was not collected. Future studies may address additional demographics to determine whether perceptions vary based on culture or other demographic variables.

Historically, surveys have a low response rate and at times are not fully completed by all participants, particularly with health care professionals (Funkhouser et al., 2017). This phenomenon was observed in the current study as the response rate was 15.6%. The low response rate may have indicated a self-selection bias. Participants who were more involved in situations that either did or did not involve debriefings may have had more drive to respond. In addition, the survey was mailed during the month of July, where some potential participants could have been on vacation or were otherwise not receiving mail.

#### Recommendations

The environment of the emergency department is often chaotic, energetic, emotional, and tumultuous. The bustling environment does not offer nurses much opportunity to take a breath, let alone to mentally sort through critical situations for coping and moving forward. During acute situations, emergency department nurses are expected to move on and care for the next critical patient. This scenario thoroughly highlights why the emergency department must rely on teamwork. Teamwork among emergency department health care providers affords them the opportunity to support one another, sort through why decisions were made, and work together to move on to care for the next influx of critical patients.

Findings from the current study indicated a relationship between debriefings and perceptions of teamwork in emergency department nurses; however, there remains a lack of knowledge in certain areas. This study focused solely on the perceptions of emergency department nurses. The perceptions of additional members of the emergency department health care team, including nurses from other departments, should be addressed in future studies to provide a broader understanding of the relationship.

Also, findings from the current study did not indicate whether nurses have improved teamwork due to more frequent debriefings or whether debriefings occur more frequently because of strong teamwork. Future studies may include teamwork surveys before and after implementation of debriefings to determine whether a change in team scores is found. Future studies may also include qualitative interviews to develop a better understanding of the debriefing phenomenon. In addition, future studies should investigate who initiates debriefings to determine if that affects frequency and teamwork.

#### Implications

Nurses have been referred to as the heart of health care, always giving parts of themselves to care for others during the most demanding and stressful times. Nurses dedicate their lives to the care of patients and families, regardless of their own emotional and physical anguish. Nurses who are faced with situational distress in their work environment without receiving support are not able to easily process the experience (Eslami, Elahi, Mohammadi, & Fallahi, 2017). Emotionally and physically draining situations are daily occurrences for nurses, and they may go unsupported and unacknowledged. Nurses are part of the healthcare team and must work together seamlessly and tirelessly in high-stress situations to perform life-saving measures on critical patients. Building a resilient team has been shown to allow nurses to withstand the challenging demands of the emergency department (Grover et al., 2017). The ability to perform as a member of a health care team is necessary for the provision of competent clinical care (Thistlethwaite & Dallest, 2014). The goal of this study was to promote social change by providing methods for nurses to debrief, where they can emotionally process traumatic events and build a team in which members support one another to be able to move forward together.

#### Methodological, Theoretical, and Empirical Implications

There are approximately 90,000 emergency nurses in the United States (Nurse Source, 2018), which constitutes a large percentage of health care workers. Emergency department nurses are more susceptible to turnover because they have an increased potential for burnout and compassion fatigue (Emergency Nurses Association, 2017). The national nurse turnover rate is currently 16.8%, and emergency department nurses have exceeded the national average the past 2 years at 19.1% in 2016 and 20.2% in 2017 (NSI Nursing Solutions, 2018). Studies have shown that perceptions of teamwork can offset

the stress and demands in emergency department nurses (Johnston et al., 2016). If nurses have improved teamwork from debriefings, they may have less turnover and burnout.

Improved teamwork has been linked to several measures of positive patient perceptions and outcomes. Debriefings in health care have been shown to reduce events that endanger patient safety, such as falls (Reiter-Palmon et al., 2015). Findings from the current study may be used to increase utilization of debriefings and to improve teamwork and subsequently improved patient care.

# **Practice Recommendations**

As teamwork is such an integral component of emergency department medicine and patient care, studies such as this which investigate teamwork are essential to helping to optimize its incorporation into the regular work. Given what we know and what I have found, I would recommend to the American Nurses Association that debriefings be conducted for all postresuscitation situations. At the hospital level, I would recommend that nursing educators and leadership should also implement debriefings as part of best practice for patient care, self-care and teamwork.

By providing the outcome of this study to emergency departments, staff can implement debriefing tools into their postresuscitation and critical incident situations. This can change the dynamic in emergency departments, by opening up communication in team members and improve teamwork amongst the healthcare members. This is an essential component of patient care as studies have shown numerous replications of the connections between quality of teamwork and both patient and healthcare provider outcomes (Rosen, et al., 2018).

### Conclusion

Teamwork is an essential component of the management of patients in the emergency department. Busy, tired, and drained nurses must move from one critical patient to the next while working in a multi-disciplinary team to achieve optimal patient care. Debriefings are the process of discussing the actions and thought processes involved in a situation, encourage reflection on those actions, and incorporate improvements into future performance. In this study I sought to further investigate debriefings in the emergency department.

Existing literature has focused on debriefings as a method for the individual person to self-reflect and focus on psychological symptoms, but has failed to specifically research its relationship with teamwork. Therefore, the purpose of this study was to determine if there was a relationship between debriefings and perceptions of teamwork in emergency department nurses. Research questions and their hypotheses sought to determine aspects of debriefings and their relationship with components of teamwork. This study was founded on the nurse as wounded healer theory to understand how debriefings can affect the professional environment.

In this study I utilized a quantitative design via survey as its method. Participants were recruited via mailing list by the Emergency Nurses Association. There were 500 mailed surveys distributed to ENA members, with a 15.6% response rate (N=78). Data were collected using the Nursing Teamwork Survey, shown to be valid and reliable yielding a scaled response useful in providing statistical inferences.

A correlational analysis was conducted on the results of the surveys. Key findings from this study indicate trust, team orientation, backup, shared mental model and leadership are higher when debriefings are of formal format, higher frequency and immediately after the event has occurred. All three research questions supported their hypotheses and disputed their null hypotheses.

Results of this study are consistent with those of previous literature and of those discussed in chapter 2. Despite what I learned, there are several limitations to this study, particularly with generalizability to the remainder of the emergency department providers and other nurses. Future studies should further investigate why the relationship between the two variables exists. This study has the ability to affect social change by providing practice recommendations in emergency departments that can facilitate teamwork and potentially improve burnout and retention rates.

### References

- Adriaenssens, J., DeGucht, V., & Maes, S. (2014). Determinants and prevalence of burnout in emergency nurses: A systematic review of 25 years of research. *International Journal of Nursing Studies*, 52(2), 649-661. doi.org/10.1016/j.ijnurstu.2014.11.004
- Ajeigbe, D., McNeese-Smith, D., Phillips, L., & Leach, L. (2014). Effect of nursephysician teamwork in the emergency department nurse and physician perception of job satisfaction. *Journal of Nursing Care*, *3*(1), http://dx.doi.org/10.4172/2167-1168.1000141
- Allen, J. A., Reiter-Palmon, R., Crowe, J., & Scott, C. (2018). Debriefs: Teams learning from doing in context. *American Psychologist*, 73(4), 504. https://doiorg.ezp.waldenulibrary.org/10.1037/amp0000246
- American College of Emergency Physicians. (2015). Definition of emergency medicine. Retrieved from https://www.acep.org/patient-care/policy-statements/definition-ofemergency-medicine/
- American Heart Association. (2018). What is CPR? Retrieved from https://cpr.heart.org/AHAECC/CPRAndECC/AboutCPRECC/WhatIsCPR/UCM\_ 499896\_What-is-CPR.jsp
- Andersen, P., Coverdale, S., Kelly, M., & Forster, S. (2018). Interprofessional simulation developing teamwork using a two-tiered debriefing approach. *Clinical Simulation in Nursing*, 20, 15-23.https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ecns.2018.04.003

Arciaga, Z., Whalen, M., Brewer, V., & Hammer, L. (2019). Implementation of a

standardized debriefing tool in the emergency department. Journal of

Interprofessional Education & Practice, 16(1).

http://dx.doi.org/10.1016/j.xjep.2019.100265

Bhanji, F., Donoghue, A. J., Wolff, M. S., Flores, G. E., Halamek, L. P., Berman, J. M.,
... & Cheng, A. (2015). Part 14: education: 2015 American Heart Association
guidelines update for cardiopulmonary resuscitation and emergency
cardiovascular care. *Circulation*, *132*(18\_suppl\_2), S561-S573.
https://doi.org/10.1161/CIR.00000000000268

Berg, G. M., Hervey, A. M., Basham-Saif, A., Parsons, D., Acuna, D. L., & Lippoldt, D. (2014). Acceptability and implementation of debriefings after trauma resuscitation. *Journal of Trauma Nursing*, *21*(5), 201-208. doi:10.1097/JTN.0000000000066

Bohl, N. (1991). The effectiveness of brief psychological interventions in police officers after critical incidents. In J.T. Reese and J. Horn, and C. Dunning (Eds.), *Critical Incidents in Policing, Revised* (pp. 31-38). Washington, DC: Department of Justice.

Bohl, N. (1995). Measuring the effectiveness of CISD. *Fire Engineering*, 125-126. Retrieved from: https://search-ebscohostcom.ezp.waldenulibrary.org/login.aspx?direct=true&db=a9h&AN=9508232876& site=ehost-live&scope=site

Boscarino, J. A., Adams, R. E., & Figley, C. R. (2005). A prospective cohort study of the effectiveness of employer-sponsored crisis interventions after a major

disaster. *International Journal of Emergency Mental Health*, 7(1), 31-44. Retrieved from https://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pmc/articles/PMC2699397/

- Bragadóttir, H., Kalisch, B. J., Smáradóttir, S. B., & Jónsdóttir, H. H. (2016). The psychometric testing of the nursing teamwork survey in Iceland. *International Journal of Nursing Practice*, 22(3), 267-274. doi.org/10.1111/ijn.12422
- Caine, R. M., & Ter-Bagdasarian, L. (2003). Early identification and management of critical incident stress. *Critical Care Nurse*, 23(1), 59-65. Retrieved from http://ccn.aacnjournals.org/content/23/1/59.full>
- Centers for Disease Control and Prevention. (2017). Deaths and mortality. Retrieved from https://www.cdc.gov/nchs/fastats/deaths.htm
- Chemtob, C., Thomas, S., Law, W., & Cremniter, D. (1997). Post disaster psychosocial intervention. *American Journal of Psychiatry*, 134, 415-417. Retrieved from https://ajp.psychiatryonline.org/
- Cheng, A., Grant, V., Robinson, T., Catena, H., Lachapelle, K., Kim, J.,...& Eppich, W. (2016). The promoting excellence and reflective learning in simulation (PEARLS) approach to health care debriefing: A faculty development guide. *Clinical Simulation in Nursing*, *12*(10), 419-428. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ecns.2016.05.002
- Christie, W., & Jones, S. (2014). Lateral violence in nursing and the theory of the nurse as wounded healer. *Online Journal of Issues in Nursing*, 19(1), 27-36.doi: 10.3912/OJIN.Vol19No01PPT01

Cieslak, R., Anderson, V., Bock, J., Moore, B. A., Peterson, A. L., & Benight, C. C.

(2013). Secondary traumatic stress among mental health providers working with the military: Prevalence and its work- and exposure-related correlates. *Journal of Nervous and Mental Disease, 201*(11), 917. doi:

10.1097/NMD.00000000000034

Clark, R., & McLean, C. (2018). The professional and personal debriefing needs of ward based nurses after involvement in a cardiac arrest: An explorative qualitative pilot study. *Intensive and Critical Care Nursing*, 47, 78-

84. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.iccn.2018.03.009

- Cockerham, M. E. (2015). Effect of faculty training on improving the consistency of student assessment and debriefing in clinical simulation. *Clinical Simulation in Nursing*, 11(1), 64-71. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ecns.2014.10.011
- Conrad, E. K., & Morrison, R. D. (2018). MP31: Debriefing critical incidents in health care: A review of the evidence. *Canadian Journal of Emergency Medicine*, 20(S1), S51-S52. Retrived from

https://www.cambridge.org/core/journals/canadian-journal-of-emergencymedicine#

- Conti-O'Hare, M. (2002). *The nurse as wounded healer: From trauma to transcendence*. City, ST: Jones & Bartlett Learning.
- Copeland, D., & Liska, H. (2016). Implementation of a post-code pause. *Journal of Trauma Nursing*, 23(2), 58-64. https://doi.org/10.1097/JTN.00000000000187
- Coutinho, E., Parreira, V., Martins, I., Cabral, L., Duarte, J., Amaral, O., & Pereira, C. (2016). The primacy of communication in obstetrics: The relations of power

established between nurses and puerperas. In Minutes of the 5th Ibero-American Congress on Qualitative Research. *Qualitative Research in Health* (pp. 1508-1516). Retrieved from https://journals.sagepub.com/home/qhr

- Creswell, J.W. (2009). Research design: qualitative, quantitative, and mixed methods approaches. Los Angeles: Sage.
- Decker, S., Fey, M., Sideras, S., Caballero, S., Boese, T., Franklin, A. E., ... & Borum, J. C. (2013). Standards of best practice: Simulation standard VI: The debriefing process. *Clinical Simulation in Nursing*, 9(6), S26-S29. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ecns.2013.04.008

Dunne, C. (2015). Carl Jung: Wounded healer of the soul. Watkins Media Limited.

- Emergency Nurses Association. (2013). Healthy Work Environment. Retrieved from https://www.ena.org/docs/default-source/resource-library/practiceresources/topic-briefs/healthy-work-environment
- Emergency Nurses Association (2017). Executive synopsis: Emergency nurse retention. Retrieved from https://www.ena.org/docs/default-source/resourcelibrary/practice-resources/other/emergency-nurse-retention-executivesynopsis.pdf?sfvrsn=b8b1a708\_4
- Eppich, W. J., Mullan, P. C., Brett-Fleegler, M., & Cheng, A. (2016). "Let's Talk About It": translating lessons from health care simulation to clinical event debriefings and coaching conversations. *Clinical Pediatric Emergency Medicine*, *17*(3), 200-211. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.cpem.2016.07.001

Eslami, R. A., Elahi, N., Mohammadi, E., & Fallahi, M. K. (2017). How do the nurses

cope with job stress? A study with grounded theory approach. *Journal of Caring Sciences*, *6*(3), 199-211. doi: 10.15171/jcs.2017.020

- Fey, M. K., Scrandis, D., Daniels, A., & Haut, C. (2014). Learning through debriefing: students' perspectives. *Clinical Simulation in Nursing*, 10(5), e249-e256. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ecns.2013.12.009
- Funkhouser, E., Vellala, K., Baltuck, C., Cacciato, R., Durand, E., McEdward, D., ... & National Dental PBRN Collaborative Group. (2017). Survey methods to optimize response rate in the National Dental Practice–Based Research Network. *Evaluation & the health professions*, 40(3), 332-358.
  https://doi.org/10.1177/0163278715625738
- Gardner, R. (2013). Introduction to debriefing. *Seminars in Perinatology*, *37*(3), 166-174. https://doi.org/10.1053/j.semperi.2013.02.008
- Gardner, A. K., Kosemund, M., Hogg, D., Heymann, A., & Martinez, J. (2017). Setting goals, not just roles: improving teamwork through goal-focused debriefing. *The American Journal of Surgery*, 213(2), 249-252.

https://doi.org/10.1016/j.amjsurg.2016.09.040

- Geoffrion, S., Morselli, C., & Guay, S. (2016). Rethinking compassion fatigue through the lens of professional identity: the case of child-protection workers. *Trauma*, *Violence, & Abuse, 17*(3), 270-283. https://doi.org/10.1177/1524838015584362
- Gordon, S., Mendenhall, P., & O'Connor, B. B., (2013). Beyond the checklist: what else health care can learn from aviation teamwork and safety. Cornell University Press.
Green, M., Tariq, R., & Green, P. (2016). Improving patient safety through simulation training in anesthesiology: where are we?. *Anesthesiology Research and Practice*, 2016. http://dx.doi.org/10.1155/2016/4237523

Grover, E., Porter, J. E., & Morphet, J. (2017). An exploration of emergency nurses' perceptions, attitudes and experience of teamwork in the emergency department. *Australasian Emergency Nursing Journal*, 20(2), 92-97.
https://doi.org/10.1016/j.aenj.2017.01.003

- Faul, F., Erdfelder, E., Buchner, A., & Lang, A. G. (2009). Statistical power analyses using G\* Power 3.1: tests for correlation and regression analyses. *Behavior Research Methods*, 41(4), 1149-1160. https://doi.org/10.3758/BRM.41.4.1149
- Hammerle, A., Devendorf, C., Murray, C., & McGhee, T. (2017). Critical incidents in the ED. *Nursing Management*, 48(9), 9-11. doi:

10.1097/01.NUMA.0000522180.69005.1e

- Hanna, D. R., & Romana, M. (2007). Debriefing after a crisis. *Nursing Management*, *38*(8), 38-42. doi: 10.1097/01.NUMA.0000286190.06433.0b
- Harrison, R., & Wu, A. (2017). Critical incident stress debriefing after adverse patient safety events. *The American Journal of Managed Care*, 23(5), 310-312. Retrieved from https://www.ajmc.com/journals/issue/2017/2017-vol23-n5/critical-incidentstress-debriefing-after-adverse-patient-safety-events
- Healy, S., & Tyrrell, M. (2013). Importance of debriefing following critical incidents. *Emergency Nurse*, 20(10), 32–37. doi: 10.7748/en2013.03.20.10.32.s8

Hinderer, K. A., VonRueden, K. T., Friedmann, E., McQuillan, K. A., Gilmore, R.,

Kramer, B., & Murray, M. (2014). Burnout, compassion fatigue, compassion satisfaction, and secondary traumatic stress in trauma nurses. *Journal of Trauma Nursing*, *21*(4), 160-169. doi: 10.1097/JTN.00000000000055

- Hohanson, M., & Wirth, B. (2000). The critical incident stress debriefing process for the Los Angeles county fire department: automatic and effective. *International Journal of Emergency Mental Health*, 2(4), 249-257. Retrived from https://pdfs.semanticscholar.org/a089/25f512182faf5dd8a5ef51e072d6f1bd00af.p df
- Howard, S.K., Gaba, D.M., Fish, K., Yang, G., Sarnquist, F. (1992). Anesthesia Crisis resource management training: teaching anesthesiologists to handle critical incidents. *Aviation, Space and Environmental Medicine*, *63*(9), 763-770.
  Retrieved from https://www.asma.org/journal
- Hunter, L.A. (2016). Debriefing and feedback in the current healthcare environment. *The Journal of Perinatal and Neonatal Nursing*, *30*(3), 174-178. doi:

10.1097/JPN.000000000000173.

International Council of Nurses (2019). Nursing definitions. Retrieved from https://www.icn.ch/nursing-policy/nursing-definitions

Jenkins, S.R. (1996). Social support and debriefing efficacy among emergency medical workers after a mass shooting incident. *Journal of Social Behavior and Personality*, 11, 447-492. Retrieved from https://www.sbpjournal.com/index.php/sbp

Johnston, A., Abraham, L., Greenslade, J., Thom, O., Carlstrom, E., Wallis, M., & Crilly,

J. (2016). Review article: Staff perception of the emergency department working environment: an integrative review of the literature. *Emergency Medicine Australasia*, 28(1), 7-26. https://doi.org/10.1111/1742-6723.12522

- Kalisch, B. J., & Begeny, S. M. (2005). Improving nursing unit teamwork. JONA: The Journal of Nursing Administration, 35(12), 550-556. Retrieved from https://journals.lww.com/jonajournal/pages/default.aspx
- Kalisch, B. J., & Williams, R. A. (2009). Development and psychometric testing of a tool to measure missed nursing care. *JONA: The Journal of Nursing Administration*, 39(5), 211-219. Retrieved from

https://journals.lww.com/jonajournal/pages/default.aspx

- Kalisch, B. J., Lee, H., & Salas, E. (2010). The development and testing of the nursing teamwork survey: *Nursing Research*, 59(1), 42–50. doi: 10.1097/NNR.0b013e3181c3bd42
- Kalisch, B. J., Lee, H., & Rochman, M. (2010). Nursing staff teamwork and job satisfaction. *Journal of Nursing Management*, 18(8), 938-947.
  https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1365-2834.2010.01153.x
- Kalisch, B. J., & Lee, K. H. (2012). Congruence of perceptions among nursing leaders and staff regarding missed nursing care and teamwork. *Journal of Nursing Administration*, 42(10), 473-477. doi: 10.1097/NNA.0b013e31826a1fa4
- Kalisch, B. J., Russell, K., & Lee, K. H. (2013). Nursing teamwork and unit size. Western Journal of Nursing Research, 35(2), 214-225. doi.org/10.1177/0193945912439107

- Kaplan, Z., Iancu, I., & Bodner, E. (2001). A review of psychological debriefing after extreme stress. *Psychiatric services*, 52(6), 824-827. https://doi.org/10.1176/appi.ps.52.6.824
- Katinakis, P. A., & Spronk, P. E. (2016). The effects of structural crew resource management (CRM)/medical team work (MTW) training in the ICU. The MTW impact and evaluation study. *American Thoracic Society*, *B35*. A3207-A3207.
  Retrieved from www.atsjournals.org
- Kelly, M. A., Hager, P., & Gallagher, R. (2014). What matters most? Students' rankings of simulation components that contribute to clinical judgment. *Journal of Nursing Education*, 53(2), 97-101. https://doi.org/10.3928/01484834-20140122-08
- Kessler, D.O., Cheng, A., & Mullan, P.C. (2015). Debriefing in the emergency department after clinical events: a practical guide. *Annals of Emergency Medicine*, 65(6) 690-698. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.annemergmed.2014.10.019
- Kipnis, A., Rhodes, K. V., Burchill, C. N., & Datner, E. (2013). The relationship between patients' perceptions of team effectiveness and their care experience in the emergency department. *The Journal of Emergency Medicine*, 45(5), 731-738. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jemermed.2012.11.052
- Kolbe, M., Grande, B., & Spahn, D. R. (2015). Briefing and debriefing during simulation-based training and beyond: Content, structure, attitude and setting. Best practice & research *Clinical Anaesthesiology*, 29(1), 87-96. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.bpa.2015.01.002

Lacerenza, C. N., Marlow, S. L., Tannenbaum, S. I., & Salas, E. (2018). Team

development interventions: evidence-based approaches for improving teamwork. *American Psychologist*, *73*(4), 517. http://dx.doi.org/10.1037/amp0000295

- Law, K. E., Hildebrand, E., Oliveira-Gomes, J., Hallbeck, S., & Blocker, R. C. (2014). A comprehensive methodology for examining the impact of surgical team briefings and debriefings on teamwork. In *Proceedings of the Human Factors and Ergonomics Society Annual Meeting*, 58(1), pp. 703-707, Sage CA: Los Angeles, CA: SAGE Publications. https://doi.org/10.1177/1541931214581164
- Lerner, S., Magrane, D., & Friedman, E. (2009). Teaching teamwork in medical education. *Mount Sinai Journal of Medicine: A Journal of Translational and Personalized Medicine: Journal of Translational and Personalized Medicine*, 76(4), 318-329. https://doi.org/10.1002/msj.20129
- Levett-Jones, T., & Lapkin, S. (2014). A systematic review of the effectiveness of simulation debriefing in health professional education. *Nurse Education Today*, 34(6), e58-e63. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.nedt.2013.09.020
- Lyu, H., Wick, E. C., Housman, M., Freischlag, J. A., & Makary, M. A. (2013).
  Patient satisfaction as a possible indicator of quality surgical care. *Journal of the American Medical Association Surgery*, *148*(4), 362–367. doi:10.1001/2013.jamasurg.270
- Lyubovnikova, J., West, M. A., Dawson, J. F., & Carter, M. R. (2015). 24-karat or fool's gold? Consequences of real team and co-acting group membership in healthcare organizations. *European Journal of Work and Organizational Psychology*, 24(6), 929–950. https://doi.org/10.1080/1359432X.2014.99242

- Maloney, C. (2012). Critical incident stress debriefing and pediatric nurses: an approach to support the work environment and mitigate negative consequences. *Pediatric Nursing*, *38*(2). Retrived from https://eds-a-ebscohostcom.ezp.waldenulibrary.org/eds/pdfviewer/pdfviewer?vid=3&sid=a1f0cd83-77d6-488e-96cb-22ef0d8d0459%40sdc-v-sessmgr01
- Mitchell, J. T. (1983). When disaster strikes: The critical incident stress debriefing process. In *Journal of Emergency Medical Services* (pp. 36-39). Retrieved from www.jems.com
- Mitchell, J. T. (1986). Critical incident stress management. Response, 24-25.
- Morse, K. J. (2015). Structured model of debriefing on perspective transformation for NP students. *Clinical Simulation in Nursing*, 11(3), 172-179. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ecns.2015.01.001
- Mullan, P.C., Wuestner, E., Kerr, T.D., Christopher, D.P., & Patel, B. (2013).
   Implementation of an in situ qualitative debriefing tool for resuscitations.
   *Resuscitation*, 84(7), 946-951. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.resuscitation.2012.12.005
- National League for Nursing (2015). Debriefing across the curriculum. A living document from the national league for nursing. Retrieved from http://www.nln.org/docs/default-source/about/nln-vision-series-%28positionstatements%29/nln-vision-debriefing-across-the-curriculum.pdf?sfvrsn=0
- NSI Nursing Solutions (2018). 2018 National healthcare retention and RN staffing report. Retrieved from

http://www.nsinursingsolutions.com/files/assets/library/retention-

institute/nationalhealthcarernretentionreport2018.pdf

- Nurmi, L. (1999). The sinking of the Estonia: the effects of critical incident stress debriefing on rescuers. *International Journal of Emergency Mental Health*, 1(1), 23-32. Retrieved from https://www.omicsonline.org/international-journal-ofemergency-mental-health-and-human-resilience.php
- Nurse Source. (2018). *Emergency Nurse Career Information*. Retrieved from https://www.nursesource.org/emergency.html
- Pender, D. A., & Prichard, K. K. (2009). ASGW best practice guidelines as a research tool: a comprehensive examination of the critical incident stress debriefing. *The Journal for Specialists in Group Work*, 34(2), 175-192.

https://doi.org/10.1080/01933920902807147

- Ratrout, H. F., & Hamdan-Mansour, A. M. (2017). Factors associated with secondary traumatic stress among emergency nurses: an integrative review. *The Open Nursing Journal*, 7(11), 1209-1226. https://doi.org/10.4236/ojn.2017.711088
- Reiter-Palmon, R., Kennel, V., Allen, J. A., Jones, K., & Skinner, A. (2015). Naturalistic decision making in after-action review meetings: the implementation of and learning from post-fall huddles. *Journal of Occupational and Organizational Psychology*, 88(2), 322–340. https://doi.org/10.1111/joop.12084

 Ríos-Risquez, M. I., & García-Izquierdo, M. (2016). Patient satisfaction, stress and burnout in nursing personnel in emergency departments: a cross-sectional study. *International Journal of Nursing Studies*, 59, 60-67. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ijnurstu.2016.02.008

- Rivera-Chiauzzi, E., Lee C., & Goffman, D. (2016). Debriefing after adverse outcomes. An opportunity to improve quality and patient safety. *Modern Medicine*. 24-32. Retrieved from https://www.contemporaryobgyn.net/
- Robinson, R.C. & Mitchell, J.T. (1993) Evaluation of psychological debriefings. *Journal* of Traumatic Stress, 6(3), 367-382. https://doi.org/10.1002/jts.2490060307
- Rose, S., & Cheng, A. (2018). Charge nurse facilitated clinical debriefing in the emergency department. *Canadian Journal of Emergency Medicine*, 20(5), 781-785. https://doi.org/10.1017/cem.2018.369
- Rosen, M. A., DiazGranados, D., Dietz, A. S., Benishek, L. E., Thompson, D., Pronovost,
  P. J., & Weaver, S. J. (2018). Teamwork in healthcare: key discoveries enabling safer, high-quality care. *American Psychologist*, *73*(4), 433–450. http://dx.doi.org/10.1037/amp0000298
- Ross-Adjie, G., Leslie, G., & Gillman, L. (2007). Occupational stress in the ED: what matters to nurses? *Australasian Emergency Nursing Journal*, 10(3), 117-123. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.aenj.2007.05.005
- Rushton, C. H., Caldwell, M., & Kurtz, M. (2016). Moral distress a catalyst in building moral resilience. *The American Journal of Nursing*, *116*(7), 40-49. doi: 10.1097/01.NAJ.0000484933.40476.5b
- Sabei, S. D. A., & Lasater, K. (2016). Simulation debriefing for clinical judgment development: A concept analysis. *Nurse Education Today*, 45, 42-47. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.nedt.2016.06.008

Salas, E., Burke, C. S., & Cannon-Bowers, J. A. (2000). Teamwork: emerging principles.

*International Journal of Management Reviews*, 2(4), 339-356. doi.org/10.1111/1468-2370.00046

Salas, E., Sims, D. E., & Burke, C. S. (2005). Is there a "big five" in teamwork?. *Small Group Research*, *36*(5), 555-599. doi: 10.1177/1046496405277134

Sandhu, N., Eppich, W., Mikrogianakis, A., Grant, V., Robinson, T., & Cheng, A.
(2014). Postresuscitation debriefing in the pediatric emergency department: a national needs assessment. *Journal of the Canadian Association of Emergency Physicians; Pickering*, 16(5), 383–392. https://doi.org/10.2310/8000.2013.131136

- Schmidt, M., & Haglund, K. (2017). Debrief in emergency departments to improve compassion fatigue and promote resiliency. *Journal of Trauma Nursing*, 24(5), 317-322. https://doi.org/10.1097/JTN.0000000000031
- Schulz, H., Zacher, H., & Lippke, S. (2017). The importance of team health climate for health-related outcomes of white-collar workers. *Frontiers in Psychology*, 8, 74. https://doi.org/10.3389/fpsyg.2017.00074
- Schwab, D., Napolitano, N., Chevalier, K., & Pettorini-D'Amico, S. (2016). Hidden grief and lasting emotions in emergency department nurses. *Creative Nursing*, 22(4), 249-253. DOI:10.1891/1078-4535.22.4.249

Severson, M. A., Maxson, P. M., Wrobleski, D. S., & Dozois, E. J. (2014). Simulationbased team training and debriefing to enhance nursing and physician collaboration. *The Journal of Continuing Education in Nursing*, 45(7), 297– 303. https://doi.org/10.3928/00220124-20140620-03

Shamia, N. A., Thabet, A. A. M., & Vostanis, P. (2015). Exposure to war traumatic

experiences, post-traumatic stress disorder and post-traumatic growth among nurses in Gaza. *Journal of Psychiatric and Mental Health Nursing*, 22(10), 749-755. https://doi.org/10.1111/jpm.12264

Simon, M. K., & Goes, J. (2013). Scope, limitations, and delimitations. (Excerpts from Dissertation and Scholarly Research: Recipes for Success).

Sjoberg, F., Schonning, E., & Salzmann-Erikson, M. (2015) Nurses' experiences of performing cardiopulmonary resuscitation in intensive care units: a qualitative study. *Journal of Clinical Nursing*, 24(17-18), 2522-2528. https://doi.org/10.1111/jocn.12844

Steinemann, S., Kurosawa, G., Wei, A., Ho, N., Lim, E., Suares, G., ... & Berg, B. (2016). Role confusion and self-assessment in interprofessional trauma teams. *The American Journal of Surgery*, 211(2), 482-488. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.amjsurg.2015.11.001

Sweberg, T., Sen, A. I., Mullan, P. C., Cheng, A., Knight, L., del Castillo, J., ... & Niles,
D. E. (2018). Description of hot debriefings after in-hospital cardiac arrests in an international pediatric quality improvement collaborative. *Resuscitation*, *128*, 181-187. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.resuscitation.2018.05.015

Tannenbaum, S. I., & Cerasoli, C. P. (2013). Do team and individual debriefs enhance performance? A meta-analysis. *Human Factors*, 55(1), 231-245. https://doi.org/10.1177/0018720812448394

Thistlethwaite, J., & Dallest, K. (2014). Interprofessional teamwork: still haven't decided what we are educating for? *Medical Education*, 48(6), 556-558.

https://doi.org/10.1111/medu.12471

- U.S. Department of Health and Human Services (nd). *Critical Incident Reporting Policy*. Retrieved from https://www.nd.gov/dhs/info/pubs/mfp/docs/critical-incidents-reporting-policy.pdf
- U.S. Department of Health and Human Services. (2018). Debriefing for clinical learning. Retrieved from https://psnet.ahrq.gov/primers/primer/36/Debriefing-for-Clinical-Learning
- U.S. Department of Health and Human Services. (2019). *Debriefing for clinical learning*. Retrieved from: https://psnet.ahrq.gov/primers/primer/36/Debriefing-for-Clinical-Learning
- Verkuyl, M., Lapum, J. L., St-Amant, O., Betts, L., & Hughes, M. (2017). An exploration of debriefing in virtual simulation. *Clinical Simulation in Nursing*, 13(11), 591-594. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ecns.2017.08.002
- Wagener, F., & Ison, D. C. (2014). Crew resource management application in commercial aviation. *Journal of Aviation, Technology and Engineering*, 3(2), 2. https://doi.org/10.7771/2159-6670.1077
- Wolf, L. A., Pherhats, C., Delao, A. M., Moon, M. D., Clark, P. R., & Zavotsky, K. E.
  (2016). "It's a burden you carry": describing moral distress in emergency nursing. *Journal of Emergency Nursing*, 42(1), 37-46. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jen.2015.08.008
- World Health Organization. (n.d.) *Being an effective team player*. Retrieved from http://www.who.int/patientsafety/education/curriculum/who\_mc\_topic-4.pdf

- Xyrichis, A., & Ream, E. (2008). Teamwork: a concept analysis. *Journal of Advanced Nursing*, *61*(2), 232-241. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1365-2648.2007.04496.x
- Zinns, L.E., O'Connell, K.J., Mullan, P.C., Ryan, L.M., & Wratney A.T. (2015). National survey of pediatric emergency medicine fellows on debriefing after medical resuscitations. *Pediatric Emergency Care*, 31(8), 551-554. doi:

10.1097/PEC.000000000000196

Appendix A: Emergency Department Nurse Debriefing Survey

## **Demographics:**

- 1. Which state do you currently work?\_\_\_\_\_
- 2. Highest education level:
  - Associate degree graduate Bachelor's degree graduate Graduate degree
- 3. Gender: \_\_\_\_\_ Female \_\_\_\_\_ Male
- 4. Age:
  - Under 25 years old (<25)</td>

     25 to 34 years old (25-34)

     35 to 44 years old (35-44)

     45 to 54 years old (45-54)

     55 to 64 years old (55-64)

     Over 65 years old (65+)
- 5. Experience as an emergency department nurse:
  - \_\_\_\_\_ Up to 6 months
  - \_\_\_\_\_ Greater than 6 months to 2 years
  - \_\_\_\_\_ Greater than 2 years to 5 years
  - \_\_\_\_\_ Greater than 5 year to 10 years
  - \_\_\_\_\_ Greater than 10 years
- 6. The demographics of your emergency department:
  - \_\_\_\_\_ Only pediatrics
  - \_\_\_\_\_ Only adults
  - \_\_\_\_\_ Combined adult and pediatrics

## Debriefings:

- 1. My department participates in debriefings:
  - Never 25% of the time 50% of the time 75% of the time Always
- 2. The timing of debriefings we participate in are:
  - \_\_\_\_\_ Hot (immediately after event occurred)
  - \_\_\_\_\_ Warm (short time of duration after event)
  - \_\_\_\_\_ Cold (after a significant amount of time has passed, ie. days)
  - \_\_\_\_\_ We do not participate in debriefings
- 3. The type of debriefings we participate in are:
  - \_\_\_\_\_ Formal structured tool
  - \_\_\_\_\_ Informal unstructured conversation
  - \_\_\_\_\_ We do not participate in debriefings

Please fill in all the following items regarding **YOUR TEAM**. Team is defined as the group of people working together on a patient care unit (or a section of a unit such as a wing) including nurses, physicians, nursing assistants/aides/techs and unit clerks/secretaries. It does **NOT** refer to individuals who visit the unit.

ITEM	Rarely	25% of the time	50% of the time	75% of the time	Always
1) All team members understand what their responsibilities are throughout the shift.					
2) The nurses who serve as charge nurses or team leaders monitor the progress of the staff members throughout the shift.					
3) Team members frequently know when another team member needs assistance before that person asks for it.					
4) Team members communicate clearly what their expectations are of others.					
5) Team members ignore many mistakes and annoying behavior of teammates rather than discussing these with them.					
6) When changes in the workload occur during the shift (admissions, discharges, patients problems etc.), a plan is made to deal with these changes.					
7) Team members know that other members of their team follow through on their commitment.					
8) The nurses who serve as charge nurses or team leaders balance workload within the team.					
9) My team believes that to do a quality job, all of the members need to work together.					

10) The shift change reports contain the information needed to care for the patients.			
11) Some team members spend extra time on breaks.			

ITEM	Rarely	25% of the time	50% of the time	75% of the time	Always
12) Team members respect one another.					
13) When a team member points out to another team member an area for improvement, the response is often defensive.					
14) Team members are aware of the strengths and weaknesses of other team members they work with most often.					
15) If the staff on one shift is unable to complete their work, the staff on the on-coming shift complains about it.					
16) Staff members with strong personalities dominate the decisions of the team.					
17) Most team members tend to avoid conflict rather than dealing with it.					
18) Nursing assistants and nurses do <u>not</u> work well together as a team.					
19) The nurses who serve as charge nurses or team leaders are available and willing to assist team members throughout the shift.					

20) Team members notice when a member is falling behind in their work.			
21) When the workload becomes extremely heavy, team members pitch in and work together to get the work done.			
22) Feedback from team members is often judgmental rather than helpful.			
23) My team readily engages in changes in order to make improvements and new methods of practice.			
24) Team members readily share ideas and information with each other.			

ITEM	Rarely	25% of the time	50% of the time	75% of the time	Always
25) Team members clarify with one another what was said to be sure that what was heard is the same as the intended message.					
26) Team members are more focused on their own work than working together to achieve the total work of the team.					
27) The nurses who serve as charge nurses or team leaders give clear and relevant directions as to what needs to be done and how to do it.					
28) Within our team, members are able to keep an eye out for each					

other without falling behind in our own individual work.			
29) Team members understand the role and responsibilities of each other.			
30) Team members willingly respond to patients other than their own when other team members are busy or overloaded.			
31) Team members value, seek and give each other constructive feedback.			
32) When someone does not report to work or someone is pulled to another unit, we reallocate responsibilities fairly among the remaining team members.			
33) Team members trust each other.			

Appendix B: Permission to Use the Nursing Teamwork Survey

Thank you for your interest in the *Nursing Teamwork Survey (NTS)*. You have permission to use it if you are willing to send the results (data) so that I can continue to monitor the psychometric properties of the tool. Let me know if you have questions.

Sincerely, Bea Beatrice J. Kalisch, RN, PhD, FAAN Titus Distinguished Professor of Nursing University of Michigan School of Nursing

## Appendix C: NTS Scoring

Trust	Team Orientation	Backup	Shared Mental Model	Team Leadership
4	5	3	1	2

NTS Scoring: List of each subscale and the corresponding questions

4	5	3	1	2
23	11	19	7	6
24	13	20	9	8
25	15	21	10	27
31	16	28	12	
32	17	30	14	
33	18		29	
	22			
	26			